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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which statements involve substantial risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking
statements generally relate to future events or our future financial or operating performance. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements
because they contain words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “could,” “intends,” “target,” “projects,” “contemplates,”
“believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential” or “continue” or the negative of these words or other similar terms or expressions that concern our
expectations, strategy, plans or intentions. Forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q include, but are not limited to,
statements about our products, technology, customers, business, operations, and market and industry developments.
You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. We have based the forward-looking statements contained in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q primarily on our current expectations and projections about future events and trends that we believe may affect our business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects. The outcome of the events described in these forward-looking statements is subject to risks,
uncertainties and other factors described in the section titled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Moreover, we operate in a
very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks and uncertainties emerge from time to time and it is not possible for us to predict all risks and
uncertainties that could have an impact on the forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. We cannot assure you that the
results, events and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements will be achieved or occur, and actual results, events or circumstances could
differ materially from those described in the forward-looking statements.
The forward-looking statements made in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q relate only to events as of the date on which the statements are made. We
undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements made in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q to reflect events or circumstances after the
date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or to reflect new information or the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as required by law.
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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Quantenna Communications, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
(Unaudited)
March 31,
2019

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

$

Total current assets
Deferred tax assets
Property and equipment, net
Intangible and other assets, net

40,750
95,729
35,096
18,203
2,465

December 30,
2018

$

192,243
37,425
21,610
6,681

Total assets
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities and other current liabilities

38,881
97,268
28,326
20,218
5,325
190,018
35,563
13,691
6,384

$

257,959

$

245,656

$

8,962
28,193

$

9,852
25,946

Total current liabilities
Other long-term liabilities

37,155
8,642

35,798
3,371

Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (see Note 8)
Stockholders’ equity
Common stock: $0.0001 par value, 1,000,000,000 shares authorized at March 31, 2019
and December 30, 2018, 38,473,343 and 37,695,109 shares issued and outstanding at
March 31, 2019 and December 30, 2018, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit

45,797

39,169

4
337,813
(417)
(125,238)

4
331,551
(935)
(124,133)

212,162

206,487

Total stockholders’ equity
$

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

257,959

$

245,656

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Quantenna Communications, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In thousands, except per share data)
(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2019

Revenue
Cost of revenue

$

57,678
28,170

April 1,
2018

$

45,117
22,352

Gross profit

29,508

22,765

Operating expenses:
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative

19,059
4,357
9,275

17,601
4,495
4,198

Total operating expenses

32,691

26,294

Loss from operations
Other income, net

(3,183)
697

(3,529)
334

Loss before income taxes
Benefit (provision) for income taxes

(2,486)
1,381

(3,195)
(52)

(1,105) $

(3,247)

Net loss

$

Net loss per share - basic and diluted

$

Weighted average shares used to compute basic and diluted net loss per share

(0.03) $
38,080

(0.09)
35,848

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Quantenna Communications, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2019

Net loss
Other comprehensive gain (loss), net of tax:
Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale marketable securities
Unrealized gains on derivative instruments

$

(1,105) $
215
303

Other comprehensive gain (loss), net of tax

518
$

Comprehensive loss

(587) $

April 1,
2018

(3,247)
(231)
—
(231)
(3,478)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Quantenna Communications, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019
Common Stock

Shares
Balances at December 30, 2018

Issuance of common stock for
exercise of options and awards,
net of shares withheld for taxes
Stock-based compensation
expense
Change in unrealized gain on
marketable securities, net of tax
Change in unrealized gain on
derivative instruments, net of
tax
Net loss
Balances at March 31, 2019

37,695

Amount

$

4

Additional
Paid-In Capital

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss

$

$

331,551

(935) $

Accumulated
Deficit

Total
Stockholder's
Equity

(124,133) $

206,487

778

—

1,032

—

—

1,032

—

—

5,230

—

—

5,230

—

—

—

215

—

215

—
—

—
—

—
—

303
—

38,473

$

4

$

337,813

$

(417) $

—
(1,105)

303
(1,105)

(125,238) $

212,162

Three Months Ended April 1, 2018
Common Stock

Shares
Balances at December 31, 2017

Issuance of common stock for
exercise of options and awards,
net of shares withheld for taxes
Stock-based compensation
expense
Change in unrealized loss on
marketable securities, net of tax
Net loss
Balances at April 1, 2018

35,529

Amount

$

3

Additional
Paid-In Capital

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss

$

$

308,023

(207) $

Accumulated
Deficit

Total
Stockholder's
Equity

(127,216) $

180,603

656

—

888

—

—

888

—

—

4,592

—

—

4,592

—
—

—
—

—
—

36,185

$

3

$

313,503

(231)
—
$

(438) $

—
(3,247)
(130,463) $

(231)
(3,247)
182,605

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Quantenna Communications, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2019

Cash flows from operating activities

April 1,
2018

(in thousands)

Net loss

$

(1,105) $

(3,247)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization

1,995

1,125

Stock-based compensation expense

5,230

4,592

Deferred income taxes

(2,009)

Other

—

136

(50)

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable

(6,770)

476

Inventory

2,015

(5,758)

Prepaid expenses and other assets

2,294

(147)

Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities and other current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

(910)

8,725

(6)

1,053

(635)

Net cash provided by operating activities

—

235

6,769

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment

(941)

Purchase of long-term investment

(924)

—

Purchase of marketable securities
Proceeds from sales and maturities of marketable securities
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

(590)

(21,480)

(13,211)

23,211

11,515

790

(3,210)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common stock

2,964

Payments of taxes withheld for vested stock awards

1,438

(1,932)

Payments related to intangible asset purchase

(601)

(272)

Repayments of long-term debt
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

(272)

—

(3,943)

760

(3,378)

84

—

1,869

181

Cash and cash equivalents
Beginning of period

38,881
$

End of period

40,750

24,432
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
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24,613

Quantenna Communications, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

1. The Company and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Quantenna Communications, Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated in the State of Delaware on November 28, 2005. The Company designs, develops
and markets advanced high-speed wireless communication solutions enabling wireless local area networking. The Company’s solutions are designed to
deliver leading-edge Wi-Fi performance to support an increasing number of connected devices accessing a rapidly growing pool of digital content. The
Company applies its wireless systems and software expertise with high-performance radio frequency, mixed-signal and digital semiconductor design skills to
provide highly integrated Wi-Fi solutions to its customers.
On March 27, 2019, we entered into a definitive agreement and plan of merger with ON Semiconductor Corporation to be acquired by ON
Semiconductor Corporation for $24.50 per share in an all cash transaction. Refer to Note 13 to condensed consolidated financial statements, Merger
Agreement, for further details of the merger.
Reporting Calendar
The Company prepares financial statements on a 52- or 53-week fiscal year that ends on the Sunday closest to December 31. Fiscal 2019 will have 52
weeks and fiscal 2018 had 52 weeks. In a 52-week year, each fiscal quarter consists of 13 weeks. Fiscal 2019 will end on December 29, 2019.
Unaudited Interim Financial Information
The accompanying interim condensed consolidated financial statements and related disclosures are unaudited and in the opinion of management, reflect
all adjustments, which include only normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair statement of the results of operations for the periods presented. The
year-end condensed consolidated balance sheet data was derived from audited financial statements, but does not include all disclosures required by
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“US GAAP”). The condensed consolidated results of operations for the three
months ended March 31, 2019 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year or for any other future year or interim period. The
accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and the related notes thereto
included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2018 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(the “SEC”) on February 28, 2019 (“2018 Annual Report on Form 10-K”).
Use of Estimates
Preparation of financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenue and
expenses during the reporting periods covered by the financial statements and accompanying notes. Among the significant estimates affecting the financial
statements are those related to inventories, revenue recognition, stock-based compensation and income taxes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Principles of Consolidation
The condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions
and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.
Significant Accounting Policies
During the three months ended March 31, 2019, there have been no changes in our significant accounting policies as described in the 2018 Annual
Report on Form 10-K except for the adoption of the new lease standard issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”), Accounting Standards
Update (“ASU”) 2016-02, Leases (“ASC 842”). Refer to Note 2 to condensed consolidated financial statements, Operating Leases, for further details.
-6 -

Quantenna Communications, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

2.

Operating leases

Adoption of New Accounting Standards
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASC 842, which sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases for
both parties to a contract (i.e., lessees and lessors). The new standard requires lessees to apply a dual approach, classifying leases as either finance or operating
leases based on the principle of whether or not the lease is effectively a financed purchase by the lessee. This classification will determine whether lease
expense is recognized based on an effective interest method or on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, respectively. A lessee is also required to
record a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for all leases with a term of greater than twelve months regardless of their classification. Leases with a term of
twelve months or less will be accounted for similar to existing guidance for operating leases today. ASC 842 supersedes the previous leases standard, ASC
840 Leases. The Company adopted ASC 842 on December 31, 2018 using the modified retrospective method of adoption and therefore did not restate prior
year comparative amounts which are presented in accordance with ASC 840 prior to December 31, 2018.
ASC 842 provides a number of optional practical expedients in transition.The Company has elected the “package of practical expedients”, which
permits it not to reassess under the new standard its prior conclusions about lease identification, lease classification and initial direct costs. All of our leases at
the adoption date were operating leases for facilities and did not include any non-lease components.
ASC 842 had a material effect on the Company’s financial statements.The most significant effects of adoption relate to (1) the recognition of new Rightof-Use (“ROU”) assets and lease liabilities on its balance sheet for real estate operating leases; and (2) providing significant new disclosures about its leasing
activities.
Upon adoption, the Company recognized additional operating lease liabilities, net of deferred rent, of approximately $8.5 million based on the present
value of the remaining minimum rental payments using an estimated incremental borrowing rate of 4.47%. The Company also recognized corresponding
ROU assets of approximately $8.5 million which is classified as part of Property and Equipment, Net, in its condensed consolidated balance sheet. These
ROU assets relate to office space leased under non-cancelable operating leases under arrangements expiring through 2026 including for our corporate
headquarters in San Jose, California as well as other regional and international corporate office locations and their associated lease component related to the
fixed payments payable under these leases which are integral to the right to use the ROU assets. Non-lease components such as common area maintenance
costs are considered as variable costs and are expensed as incurred. Lease expense is not expected to change materially as a result of the adoption of ASC
842.
ASC 842 also provides practical expedients for an entity’s ongoing accounting.The Company elected the short-term lease recognition exemption for all
leases that qualify all lease that qualify, which means that the Company will not recognize ROU assets or lease liabilities for new or existing short–term
leases.
During the three months ended March 31, 2019, the Company recorded $0.8 million as lease expense. Lease expense relating to short-term leases were
insignificant.
Operating lease liabilities as of March 31, 2019 are reconciled to ROU assets as below (in thousands):
Operating lease liabilities, short-term portion
Operating lease liabilities, long-term portion*

$

Total operating lease liabilities
Less deferred rent eliminated upon adoption of ASC 842

2,678
6,743
9,421
(1,419)

Total ROU assets classified as Property and Equipment, Net
*included in “Other long-term liabilities” in the condensed consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2019.
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$

8,002

Quantenna Communications, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

Maturities of our operating lease liabilities are as follows as of March 31, 2019 (in thousands):
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024 and beyond

$

2,116
2,333
1,895
1,920
1,808
322

Total payments
Less: Future interest

$

10,394
(973)

Present value of operating lease liabilities

$

9,421

As of March 31, 2019, the weighted average remaining lease term was 4.4 years and the weighted average discount rate was 4.47%.
3. Revenue by Geographic Area
The following table sets forth the Company’s revenue by geographic region, based on ship-to destinations (in thousands):
Three Months Ended

Three Months Ended

March 31, 2019
Amount

4.

April 1, 2018

% of
revenue

Amount

% of
revenue

Asia-Pacific
Europe, Middle East and Africa
Americas

$

52,805
4,757
116

92% $
8
—

40,737
4,366
14

90%
10
—

Total

$

57,678

100% $

45,117

100%

Earnings Per Share
The following table summarizes the Company’s computation of basic and diluted net loss per share:
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2019

April 1,
2018

(in thousands, except per share data)

$

Net loss
Weighted-average shares outstanding - basic and diluted

$

Net loss per share - basic and diluted

-8 -

(1,105) $

(3,247)

38,080

35,848

(0.03) $

(0.09)

Quantenna Communications, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

The following potentially dilutive securities outstanding at the end of the periods have been excluded from the computation of diluted shares
outstanding as the effect would have been anti-dilutive:
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2019

April 1,
2018

(in thousands)

Warrants to purchase common stock
Shares available for Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP)
Restricted Stock Units (RSUs)
Options to purchase common stock
Total
5.

—
321
2,860
3,774

58
374
2,147
5,398

6,955

7,977

Balance Sheets Components

Marketable Securities
Marketable securities at March 31, 2019 consisted of the following:
Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Amortized Cost

Gross Unrealized
Losses

Fair Value

(in thousands)

Corporate debt securities
Government debt securities

$

79,801
15,878

$

128
12

$

(85) $
(5)

79,844
15,885

$

95,679

$

140

$

(90) $

95,729

The contractual maturities of marketable securities as of March 31, 2019 were as follows:

Amortized Cost

Fair Value

(in thousands)

Due in one year or less
Due after one year to five years

$

74,382
21,297

$

74,314
21,415

$

95,679

$

95,729

Marketable securities as of December 30, 2018 consisted of the following:
Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Amortized Cost

Gross Unrealized
Losses

Fair Value

(in thousands)

Corporate debt securities
Government debt securities

$

85,353
12,141

$

24
2

$

(242) $
(10)

85,135
12,133

$

97,494

$

26

$

(252) $

97,268
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Quantenna Communications, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

The contractual maturities of marketable securities as of December 30, 2018 were as follows:
Amortized Cost

Fair Value

(in thousands)

Due in one year or less
Due after one year to five years

$

80,041
17,453

$

79,840
17,428

$

97,494

$

97,268

Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment, net consisted of the following:
March 31,
2019

December 30,
2018

(in thousands)

Computer and lab equipment
Operating lease ROU assets
Computer software
Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvements

$

Sub-total
Accumulated depreciation and amortization

18,537
8,002
1,177
1,739
4,631

$

17,858
—
1,047
1,739
4,579

34,086
(12,476)
$

Property and equipment, net

21,610

25,223
(11,532)
$

13,691

Depreciation and amortization expense related to property and equipment was $0.9 million and $0.9 million, respectively, for the three months ended
March 31, 2019 and April 1, 2018.
Inventory
Inventory consisted of the following:
March 31,
2019

December 30,
2018

(in thousands)

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods

$

8,693
2,328
7,182

$

9,069
1,093
10,056

$

18,203

$

20,218

Intangible Assets
Definite long-lived intangible assets consist of software, intellectual property and design win assets for the Company’s Wi-Fi solutions which are
recorded based on the total contractual price. Such assets are amortized over their contractual lives and are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. If it is determined that such assets are not recoverable, an
impairment charge is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of such assets exceeds their fair values. There was no impairment of definite
long-lived intangible assets for the periods presented. As of March 31, 2019, the Company’s definite long-lived intangible assets amounted to approximately
$4.9 million, net of accumulated amortization of $1.7 million.
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Quantenna Communications, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

Accrued Liabilities and Other Current Liabilities
Accrued liabilities and other current liabilities consisted of the following:
March 31,
2019

December 30,
2018

(in thousands)

Accrual for inventory purchases
Accrued customer rebates
Accrued payroll and related benefits
ESPP Contributions
Accrued expenses
Operating lease liabilities, short-term portion
Other

$

6,920
5,985
5,178
2,704
1,907
2,678
2,821

$

1,214
10,705
6,424
1,043
3,004
—
3,556

$

28,193

$

25,946

6. Fair Value Measurements
The Company determines fair value measurements used in its consolidated financial statements based upon the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value hierarchy distinguishes
between (i) market participant assumptions developed based on market data obtained from independent sources (observable inputs) and (ii) an entity’s own
assumptions about market participant assumptions developed based on the best information available in the circumstances (unobservable inputs). The fair
value hierarchy consists of three broad levels, which gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
(Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:
Level 1:

Valuations based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity has the ability to access.

Level 2:

Valuations based on quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are
observable or can be corroborated by observable data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3:

Valuations based on inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.

The Company obtains the fair value of our Level 1 investments in money market funds, at the expected market price. These investments are expected to
maintain a net asset value of $1 per share.
The Company determines the fair value of our Level 2 financial instruments from third-party asset managers, custodian banks, and the accounting service
providers.
The Company classifies financial instruments in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy when there is reliance on at least one significant unobservable input
to the valuation model. In addition to these unobservable inputs, the valuation models for Level 3 financial instruments typically also rely on a number of
inputs that are readily observable, either directly or indirectly. The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value
measurement in its entirety requires management to make judgments and consider factors specific to the asset or liability. There were no assets or liabilities in
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy and there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 categories during the year ended any of the periods presented.
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Quantenna Communications, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

The Company utilizes the market approach to measure the fair value of our fixed income securities. The market approach is a valuation technique that
uses prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or liabilities. The fair value of our fixed
income securities is obtained using readily-available market prices from a variety of industry standard data providers, large financial institutions and other
third-party sources for the identical underlying securities.
Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis
The Company measures and reports certain assets at fair value on a recurring basis as shown below except for cash held at banks that are measured at
historical cost and which are therefore not included in the tables below.
Fair Value as of March 31, 2019
Level 1

Assets:
Cash equivalents:
Money market funds
Commercial paper
Government debt securities

Level 3

Total

(in thousands)

$

3,145
—
—

Total cash equivalents

—
2,490
1,994

$

—
—
—

$

3,145
2,490
1,994

4,484

—

7,629

—
—

79,843
15,886

—
—

—
79,843
15,886

—

95,729

—

95,729

Total marketable securities
$

$

3,145

Marketable Securities:
Corporate debt securities
Government debt securities

Total cash equivalents and marketable securities

Level 2

3,145

$

100,213

$

—

$

103,358

Fair Value as of December 30, 2018
Level 1

Assets:
Cash equivalents:
Money market funds
Corporate debt securities

Level 3

Total

(in thousands)

$

3,170
—

Total cash equivalents
Marketable Securities:
Corporate debt securities
Government debt securities
Total marketable securities
Total cash equivalents and marketable securities

Level 2

$

$

—
2,044

$

—
—

$

3,170
2,044

3,170

2,044

—

5,214

—
—

85,136
12,132

—
—

—
85,136
12,132

—

97,268

—

97,268

3,170

$

99,312

$

—

$

102,482

The Level 1 assets consist of money market funds. The Level 2 assets consist of available-for-sale investment portfolio, which are valued utilizing a
market approach.
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Foreign currency derivative forward contracts are measured at fair value based on market-based observable inputs including currency exchange spot and
forward rates, interest rates, and credit-risk spreads, and are classified at Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
Total notional and net fair values for foreign exchange derivative contracts designated as hedging instruments as of March 31, 2019 were as follows:
Derivative Assets*

Derivative Liabilities*

Notional
Amount

Notional
Amount

Fair Value

Fair Value

(in thousands)

Current assets
Non-current assets**

7.

$

4,419 $
689

83
20

Total foreign exchange contracts $

5,108 $

103

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities**

$

14,359 $
5,034

619
54

Total foreign exchange contracts

$

19,393 $

673

*

The Company recorded a net derivative liability of $0.6 million as of March 31, 2019. There were no derivative assets or liabilities
recorded for the comparative periods in fiscal 2018.

**

Non-current derivative assets and liabilities were discounted at the prevailing risk-free interest rate.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company uses foreign currency forward contracts to reduce the earnings impact that exchange rate fluctuations have on operating expenses
denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. For accounting purposes, foreign currency forward contracts are designated as hedging instruments and,
accordingly, the Company will record the fair value of the effective portion of these contracts as of the end of its’ reporting period in its’ condensed
consolidated balance sheets (as an asset or a liability) with changes in fair value recorded within “Accumulated other comprehensive loss” under “Total
stockholders’ equity”. The fair values of the derivative financial instruments are combined together on the balance sheet whenever there is a master netting
arrangement in place. The changes in fair value will remain in “Accumulated other comprehensive loss” until the costs are recognized, at which time the
Company will reclassify the cumulative change of fair value relating to the hedges proportionately into the respective line items on the condensed
consolidated income statements. Any changes in fair value of the ineffective portion of the forward contracts will be recognized immediately in the
Company’s consolidated income statement under “Other income, net”.
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The effects of derivative instruments and hedging activities on the condensed consolidated statement of operations and its effect on the condensed
consolidated statement of comprehensive loss from changes in fair value for the three months ended March 31, 2019 was as follows:
Location and Amount of Loss Recognized for Hedging Activities:
Condensed
Consolidated
Statement of
Comprehensive
Loss (pre-tax)

Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations
Research and
Development

Sales and
Marketing

General and
Administrative

Total

(in thousands)
Total expense (income) from foreign currency
hedging
Effects of foreign currency cashflow hedging:
Loss reclassified from condensed consolidated
statement of comprehensive loss
Gain recognized in condensed consolidated
statement of comprehensive loss

$

$
$

133 $

(133)
— $

63 $

(63)
— $

14 $

(14)
— $

210 $

(389)

(210) $

210

— $

(179)

The Company did not enter into any hedging activities for the comparative periods in fiscal 2018.
8. Commitments and Contingencies
Purchase Commitments
The Company has purchase obligations of $19.9 million that are based on outstanding purchase orders as of March 31, 2019, related to the fabrication of
certain wafers for which production has started. These purchase orders are cancellable at any time, provided that the Company pays all costs incurred through
the cancellation date. Historically, the Company has rarely canceled these agreements once production has started. The Company did not otherwise have any
outstanding non-cancellable purchase obligations as of March 31, 2019.
Indemnification
In connection with the sale of its semiconductor products, the Company executes standard software license agreements allowing customers to use its
firmware. Under the indemnification clauses of these license agreements, the Company agrees to defend the licensee against third-party claims asserting
infringement by the Company’s products of certain intellectual property rights, which may include patents, copyrights, trademarks or trade secrets, and to pay
any judgments entered on such claims against the licensee, subject to certain restrictions and limitations. The Company has never incurred significant
expense defending its licensees against third-party claims. Further, the Company has never incurred significant expense under its standard product or services
performance warranties. As a result, the Company believes the estimated fair value of these agreements is minimal. Accordingly, the Company has no
liabilities recorded for these agreements at March 31, 2019.
Commitments
In April 2012, an agreement was entered into with Joint Stock Company “RUSNANO” (“RUSNANO”) (formerly Open Joint Stock Company
“RUSNANO”), which required the Company to form a wholly-owned subsidiary in the Russian Federation and to provide funding to the subsidiary in the
three years following April 16, 2012. This wholly-owned subsidiary performs research and development activities for the Company. Funding means cash
transfers to the subsidiary for equity investments, reimbursements of subsidiary operating expenses and Company expenses related to the subsidiary.
RUSNANO also requires participation in subsidiary financial decisions.
In July 2014, the Company entered into an amended and restated letter agreement with RUSNANO pursuant to which the Company agreed, among other
matters, to operate and fund its Russian operations in an aggregate amount of $13.0 million over six annual periods beginning on December 31, 2014. The
annual funding requirements in period one to period six are $2.2 million, $1.7 million, $2.0 million, $2.2 million, $2.4 million, and $2.5 million,
respectively. In the event that the Company fails to meet
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its funding obligations for any period, it will be required to pay RUSNANO a penalty fee of 10% on 80% of the difference between the funding obligation
and the actual funding for that period, subject to a cure period of one calendar quarter after the applicable period funding deadline. As of March 31, 2019, the
Company had met the minimum funding requirements and no penalty had been incurred.
As of March 31, 2019, the Company’s non-cancellable obligations for its definite long-lived intangible assets which are comprised of software licenses
were approximately $2.2 million, of which $1.5 million is due payable within one year and $0.7 million is due payable within two years. In addition, as of
March 31, 2019, the Company also had a non-cancellable commitment with a vendor to purchase additional intellectual property licenses up to $2.5 million
upon the successful integration of the vendor’s existing software licenses with the Company’s products.
Design Win Commitments
In order to further promote its Wi-Fi solutions and secure additional design wins with service providers (“SPs”), the Company enters into arrangements
with some of its OEMs and ODMs to incentivize the promotion of its design win solutions with SPs. Once a design win is secured through this arrangement,
the Company is obligated to compensate the OEM or ODM a success fee. The resulting liability is expected to be settled through the shipment of its Wi-Fi
chips. As of March 31, 2019, the Company had open commitments to its OEMs and ODMs under these arrangements amounting to $4.0 million. There is no
guarantee that the Company will secure some or all of these design wins (including the time frame when such design wins may be realized) in future reporting
periods.
Legal Matters
From time to time, the Company is a party to litigation and subject to claims incident to the ordinary course of business, including intellectual property
claims, labor and employment claims, breach of contract claims, and other matters. Significant judgment is required when we assess the likelihood of any
adverse judgments or outcomes to a potential claim or legal proceeding, as well as potential ranges of probable losses, and when the outcomes of the claims
or proceedings are probable and reasonably estimable. Because of uncertainties related to these matters, we base our estimates on the information available at
the time. As additional information becomes available, we reassess the potential liability related to pending claims and litigation, and may revise our
estimates. Any revisions in the estimates of potential liabilities could have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations, financial position, and
cash flows.
9. Stockholders’ Equity
Common Stock
The Company’s Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, authorizes the Company to issue 1,000,000,000 shares of $0.0001 par value common stock.
Each share of common stock is entitled to one vote. The holders of common stock are also entitled to receive dividends whenever funds are legally available
and when and if declared by the board of directors. The Company has never declared any dividends.
The Company had reserved shares of common stock for issuance, on an as-converted basis, as follows:
March 31, 2019

Options issued and outstanding
RSUs issued and outstanding
Shares available for ESPP
Shares available for future stock awards

3,773,768
2,860,325
1,233,490
3,198,960
11,066,543
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During the three months ended March 31, 2019, the Company granted 1,451,564 restricted stock units (“RSUs”) to employees. During the three months
ended April 1, 2018, the Company granted 1,254,398 RSUs and 666,250 options to employees.
10. Stock-based Compensation
Total stock-based compensation expense for employees and non-employees recognized in the condensed consolidated statements of operations was as
follows:
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2019

April 1,
2018

(in thousands)

Cost of revenue
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total stock-based compensation expense

$

85
2,890
749
1,506

$

34
2,393
984
1,181

$

5,230

$

4,592

The above stock-based compensation expense related to the following equity-based awards:
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2019

April 1,
2018

(in thousands)

Stock options
RSU awards
ESPP shares
Total stock-based compensation expense

$

—
4,686
544

$

1,168
2,803
621

$

5,230

$

4,592

11. Income Taxes
The Company recorded an income tax benefit of $1.4 million and a provision of $0.1 million, for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and April 1,
2018, respectively. The tax benefit consisted primarily of foreign expenses which is offset with domestic discrete windfall benefits associated with stock
options.
The provision for income taxes consists primarily of income taxes in the foreign jurisdictions in which we conduct business.
As of March 31, 2019, based on the available objective evidence, management still believes it is more likely than not that the net deferred tax assets will
be realized for federal and state purposes. We will continue to maintain a valuation allowance in certain foreign jurisdictions deemed necessary until
sufficient positive evidence exists to support reversal. Such assessment may change in the future as further evidence becomes available.
Under Internal Revenue Code (“IRC”) Section 382, our ability to utilize net operating loss (“NOL”) carry-forwards or other tax attributes such as research
tax credits, in any taxable year may be limited if we experience, or have experienced, an “ownership change.” A Section 382 “ownership change” generally
occurs if one or more stockholders or groups of stockholders, who own at least 5% of our stock, increase their ownership by more than 50 percentage points
over their lowest ownership percentage within a rolling three-year period. Similar rules may apply under state tax laws.
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We have completed an IRC Section 382 analysis through December 31, 2018 and determined that there was no significant limitation to the utilization of
NOL or tax credit carryforwards before they expire. We are in the process of updating the study through the current year and will update for any significant
limitations to the utilization of NOL or tax credit carryforwards in the current year upon completion of the study.
12. Employee Benefit Plans
Defined Contribution Plan
The Company adopted a 401(k) Plan that qualifies as a deferred compensation arrangement under Section 401 of the Code. Under the 401(k) Plan,
participating employees may defer a portion of their pretax earnings not to exceed the maximum amount allowable. The 401(k) Plan permits the Company to
make matching contributions and profit sharing contributions to eligible participants. The Company has made matching contributions of $0.2 million and
$0.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and April 1, 2018, respectively.
13. Merger Agreement
On March 27, 2019, ON Semiconductor Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“ON Semiconductor”), and the Company entered into a definitive
Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”). The acquisition consideration represents equity value of approximately $1.07 billion and
enterprise value of approximately $936 million, after accounting for the Company’s net cash of approximately $136 million at the end of fourth quarter of
fiscal 2018.
Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, each share of the Company’s common stock outstanding immediately prior to the
merger (other than shares held by (a) ON Semiconductor or its subsidiaries immediately prior to the merger, (b) the Company as treasury stock and
(c) stockholders of the Company who properly exercised their appraisal rights under the Delaware General Corporation Law) will automatically be canceled
and converted into the right to receive $24.50 per share in cash, without interest (the “Merger Consideration”). In addition, at or immediately prior to the
merger, (i) each option to purchase shares that has an exercise price per share that is less than the Merger Consideration will be canceled and converted into
the right to receive the Merger Consideration, net of the applicable exercise price, and in the case of each unvested option, payable at the times and subject to
the contingencies specified in the Merger Agreement (but in no event later than the end of the calendar year in which the merger occurs), (ii) each option to
purchase shares that has an exercise price per Share that is equal to or greater than the Merger Consideration will be canceled without payment, (iii) each
vested RSU award will be canceled and converted into the right to receive the Merger Consideration, and (iv) each unvested RSU award will be canceled and
converted into the right to receive the Merger Consideration, payable on the same vesting schedule that applied to such award, subject to certain conditions
specified in the Merger Agreement.
Completion of the merger is subject to the satisfaction of several conditions, including: (i) adoption of the Merger Agreement by the requisite vote of the
Company’s stockholders; (ii) the expiration or termination of any applicable waiting period relating to the merger under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust
Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, and approval under the applicable antitrust laws of China; and (iii) certain other customary conditions.
The Merger Agreement contains certain termination rights for each of ON Semiconductor and the Company ,and further provides that, upon termination
of the Merger Agreement, under specified circumstances, the Company may be required to pay ON Semiconductor a termination fee of $32.2 million.
The Merger Agreement has been adopted by the boards of directors of each of ON Semiconductor and the Company, and the board of directors of the
Company has recommended that the stockholders of the Company adopt the Merger Agreement. The merger is expected to close in the second half of fiscal
2019.
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Item 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated
financial statements and related notes included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2018 filed with the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on March 1, 2019 (“2018 Annual Report on Form 10-K”) and the condensed consolidated financial
statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. This discussion contains forward-looking statements based upon
current plans, expectations and beliefs that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these
forward-looking statements as a result of various factors. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those
identified below, those discussed in the section titled “Risk Factors” and those included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
Our Management’s Discussion and Analysis is organized as follows:
• Overview. Discussion of our business and overall analysis of financial and other highlights affecting our company.
• Results of Operations. Analysis of our financial results comparing the first quarter of 2019 to the corresponding period in 2018.
• Liquidity and Capital Resources. Analysis of changes in our balance sheets and cash flows, and discussion of our financial condition and sources of
liquidity.
• Contractual Commitments. Contractual obligations as of March 31, 2019.
Overview
We are a leader in the design, development, and marketing of advanced high-speed wireless communication solutions enabling wireless local area
networking. Our solutions are designed to deliver leading-edge Wi-Fi performance to support an increasing number of connected devices accessing a rapidly
growing pool of digital content. We apply our wireless systems and software expertise with high-performance radio frequency, mixed-signal and digital
semiconductor design skills to provide highly integrated Wi-Fi solutions to our customers. Wi-Fi is a ubiquitous standard for wireless network connectivity,
defined by the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (“IEEE,”)802.11 standardization body working group that is rapidly evolving to deliver
continued performance improvements while maintaining backward compatibility.
We sell our Wi-Fi solutions directly to global original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”), original design manufacturers (“ODMs”) and contract
manufacturers (“CMs”) that serve the end markets we address. In addition, we sell our Wi-Fi solutions to third-party distributors who, in turn, resell to OEMs,
ODMs and CMs. OEMs incorporate our solutions into their products, which are then sold to their own customers, such as service providers, retailers,
enterprises, small and medium businesses, and retail consumers. To date, we have primarily addressed the service provider market for home networking
applications, including home gateways, repeaters, and set-top boxes. We also seek to address additional end markets, with solutions for (i) retail OEMs for
home networking as well as small and medium business applications (e.g., routers and repeaters), (ii) enterprise OEMs for enterprise networking applications,
(iii) fixed wireless access (“FWA”), and (iv) potential future opportunities from consumer electronics OEMs for consumer connected home applications. We
believe the life cycles of our customers’ products can range from approximately one year to five years or more depending on the end market.
Some OEMs purchase our Wi-Fi solutions directly from us and use them in the design and manufacture (directly or through their third-party contract
manufacturers) of their own products. Other OEMs utilize ODMs to design and build subsystem products incorporating our Wi-Fi solutions, which the OEMs
then purchase from the ODM and incorporate into the OEM products. Accordingly, we ship our Wi-Fi solutions either directly to the OEM, its contract
manufacturer, or its ODM, based on the requirements of each OEM. However, we maintain close relationships with the target OEM to monitor OEM endmarket demand as the initial Wi-Fi solution design win is generally awarded by the OEM.
We derive the substantial majority of our revenue from the sale of our Wi-Fi solutions. In addition, historically we also derived a portion of our revenue
from a limited number of licensing and non-recurring arrangements. While licensing and non-recurring arrangements are not part of primary focus, we may
enter into such arrangements on an opportunistic basis from time to time.
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The following table shows OEM, ODM and third-party distributor customers from which we derived 10% or more of our revenue during the periods
shown:

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2019

April 1,
2018

(Percentage of revenue)

Customer:
A
B
C

26%
*
*

18%
16%
10%

Substantially all of our revenue as of March 31, 2019 has been derived from sales to customer partners serving the service provider home networking
market.
Almost all of our revenue was generated outside the United States for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and April 1, 2018, based on ship-to
destinations, and we anticipate that the vast majority of our shipments will continue to be delivered outside the United States. Although almost all shipments
are delivered outside the United States, we believe that a significant number of the Wi-Fi products that include our semiconductors, such as access points,
gateways, set-top boxes and repeaters, are ultimately sold by OEM customers to service providers in North America and Western Europe. To date, all of our
revenue has been denominated in U.S. dollars. Refer to Note 3 to condensed consolidated financial statements, Revenue by Geographic Area, for further
details of the Company’s revenue by geographic region.
We use a fabless semiconductor business model and rely on third-party contractors to fabricate, assemble, and test our chipset designs. We purchase
silicon wafers from Taiwan Semiconductor Manufacturing Company Limited (“TSMC”), our foundry partner, which are then shipped to third-party
contractors who assemble and test our chipsets. Our inventory is distributed from the third-party contractors and a contracted warehouse in Taiwan. We
believe this outsourced manufacturing approach gives us access to the best available process technology, reduces our capital requirements, and allows us to
focus our resources on the design, development, marketing, sales, and customer integration of our Wi-Fi solutions. We typically receive purchase orders 16 to
18 weeks ahead of our customers’ desired delivery date, and we build our inventory primarily on the basis of purchase orders from our customers.
First Quarter 2019 and Recent Highlights
Revenue increased $12.6 million, or 28%, to $57.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019, and net loss decreased by $2.1 million, or 66%,
to $1.1 million for the same period when compared to the three months ended April 1, 2018.
Gross profit increased $6.7 million, or 30%, to $29.5 million in the three months ended March 31, 2019 when compared to the corresponding period in
2018. Gross margin decreased by 70 basis points, to 51.2%, in the three months ended March 31, 2019 compared to the corresponding period in 2018.
The increases in revenue and gross profit were primarily due to an increase in sales of our Wi-Fi solutions driven by higher unit volumes of our 11ac
products. Changes in our gross margin were primarily due to changes in our product mix including an increased concentration of our higher cost 11ac Wave
3 (10G) product. Operating expenses increased $6.4 million, or 24%, to $32.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 when compared to the
corresponding period in 2018, primarily due to the continued expansion of our operations.
We generated cash from operations of $0.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and ended the first quarter of 2019 with cash and cash
equivalents and marketable securities of $136.5 million. See "Liquidity and Capital Resources" below for further details.
As of March 31, 2019, we had 410 employees, down 1% from 415 employees at the end of the fourth quarter of 2018, and up 6% from 386 employees at
the end of the first quarter of 2018.
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On March 27, 2019, we entered into a definitive agreement and plan of merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with ON Semiconductor Corporation to be
acquired by ON Semiconductor for $24.50 per share in an all cash transaction. The acquisition consideration represents equity value of approximately $1.07
billion and enterprise value of approximately $936 million, after accounting for our net cash of approximately $136 million at the end of fourth quarter of
fiscal 2018.
Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, each share of our common stock outstanding immediately prior to the merger
(other than shares held by (a) ON Semiconductor or its subsidiaries immediately prior to the merger, (b) us as treasury stock and (c) our stockholders who
properly exercised their appraisal rights under the Delaware General Corporation Law) will automatically be canceled and converted into the right to receive
$24.50 per share in cash, without interest (the “Merger Consideration”). In addition, at or immediately prior to the merger, (i) each option to purchase shares
that has an exercise price per share that is less than the Merger Consideration will be canceled and converted into the right to receive the Merger
Consideration, net of the applicable exercise price, and in the case of each unvested option, payable at the times and subject to the contingencies specified in
the Merger Agreement (but in no event later than the end of the calendar year in which the merger occurs), (ii) each option to purchase shares that has an
exercise price per Share that is equal to or greater than the Merger Consideration will be canceled without payment, (iii) each vested restricted stock unit
award will be canceled and converted into the right to receive the Merger Consideration, and (iv) each unvested restricted stock unit award will be canceled
and converted into the right to receive the Merger Consideration, payable on the same vesting schedule that applied to such award, subject to certain
conditions specified in the Merger Agreement.
Completion of the merger is subject to the satisfaction of certain closing conditions, including: (i) approval of the Merger Agreement by the requisite
vote of our stockholders; (ii) the expiration or termination of any applicable waiting period relating to the merger under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust
Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, and approval under the applicable antitrust laws of China; and (iii) certain other customary conditions. On April 22,
2019, early termination of the waiting period under the United States Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, was granted.
The Merger Agreement contains certain termination rights for each of us and ON Semiconductor and further provides that, upon termination of the
Merger Agreement under specified circumstances we may be required to pay ON Semiconductor a termination fee of $32.2 million.
The Merger Agreement has been adopted by our Board of Directors and the board of directors of ON Semiconductor . The merger is expected to close in
the second half of fiscal 2019, subject to satisfaction of the closing conditions.
Factors Affecting Our Performance
Design Wins with Existing and Prospective Service Providers
Existing and prospective service providers that we serve through our OEM and ODM customer partners tend to be global enterprises that are
continuously working with their partners to deploy new products. We believe our Wi-Fi solutions enable service providers to differentiate their products and
services and drive the next upgrade cycles in their end market to ultimately gain market share. We work closely with service providers to assist in the
development of their product specifications and designs. We compete to secure service provider design wins through an extended sales cycle, which can
often last six to 18 months. After a design win is achieved, we continue to work closely with the service providers to assist them and their OEMs and ODMs
throughout their product development and early deployment, which can often last six to 18 months. We believe our design win performance is dependent on
the investments we make in research and development and sales and marketing to bring innovative Wi-Fi solutions to our existing and new markets and
develop close relationships with our customer partners and service providers. As a result, we expect our research and development and sales and marketing
expenses to increase in absolute dollars as we continue to grow our business.
Because of this extended sales cycle, our revenue is highly dependent upon the ongoing achievement of service provider design wins, including our
Wave 2 11ac, Wave 3 11ac and Wi-Fi 6 product solutions. We expect future revenue to depend upon sales to service providers with whom we have existing
relationships as well as our ability to garner design wins with new service providers with whom we currently do not have relationships or sales. Further,
because we expect revenue relating to our earlier generation solutions to decline in the future, we consider these design wins critical to our future success.
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Product Life Cycle of our Customer Partners and Service Providers; Expanding into Other End Markets
In the service provider home networking market, once service providers select our Wi-Fi solutions for integration into their products, we work with our
OEM and ODM customer partners to monitor all phases of the product life cycle, including the initial design phase, prototype production and volume
production. Our service providers’ product life cycles typically range from three to five years or more, based on product features, size of subscriber base, and
roll-out plans. In contrast, wireless products sold in the retail or consumer electronics end markets have shorter life cycles than those sold into the service
provider home networking market. In the retail or consumer electronics markets, a wireless product typically has a product life cycle of one to two years.
Currently, the majority of our revenue is derived from sales to OEMs and ODMs serving the service provider home networking market, with relatively
longer sales cycles, longer customer product development cycles and longer time to shipment, but also with longer product life cycles. However, as we
expand into additional end markets, such as retail, small and medium business, enterprise, FWA or consumer electronics, we expect revenue from such
markets to increase as a proportion of our revenue over time. The shorter product life cycles associated with such additional end markets typically require
greater frequency of design wins, and they may also result in faster time to shipment of our Wi-Fi solutions.
Sales Volume and Customer Concentration
A typical design win can generate a wide range of sales volumes for our Wi-Fi solutions, depending on the end market demand for our customers’
products. Such demand depends on several factors, including end market size, size of the service providers, product price and features, and the ability of our
customer partners to sell their products into their end markets. As such, some design wins result in orders and significant revenue shortly after the design win
is awarded and other design wins do not result in significant orders and revenue for several months or longer after the initial design win, if at all. As a result,
an increase or decrease in the number of design wins we achieve on a quarterly or annual basis does not necessarily correlate to a likely increase or decrease
in revenue in the same or immediately succeeding quarter or year. Nonetheless, design wins are critical to our continued sales, and we believe that the
collective impact of design wins correlates to our overall revenue growth over time.
Our customer partners often share their product development schedules with us, including the projected launch dates of their wireless product offerings.
Once our customer partners are in production, they generally will provide nine to 12-month forecasts of expected demand. However, they may change their
purchase orders and demand forecasts at any time with limited or no prior notice.
We derive a significant portion of our revenue from a small number of OEMs and ODMs, and substantially all of our revenue to date has been generated
by sales of our solutions to OEMs and ODMs serving the service provider market for home networking. While we strive to expand and diversify our customer
base and we expect our customer concentration to decline over time, we anticipate that sales to a limited number of customer partners will continue to
account for a significant percentage of our revenue in the foreseeable future. In light of this customer partner concentration, our revenue is likely to continue
to be materially impacted by the purchasing decisions of our largest customer partners.
Wi-Fi Solutions Pricing, Cost and Gross Margin
Our average selling price (“ASP”) can vary by product mix, customer mix and end market, due to end market-specific characteristics such as supply and
demand, competitive landscape, the maturation of Wi-Fi solutions launched in prior years and the launch of new Wi-Fi solutions. Our gross margin depends
on a variety of factors, including the sales volume, features, price, and manufacturing costs of our Wi-Fi solutions. We make continuous investments in our
solutions to enhance existing and add new features, maintain our competitiveness, minimize ASP erosion, and reduce the cost of our solutions.
As we rely on third-party contractors for the fabrication, assembly and testing of our chipsets, we work closely with these third-parties to improve the
manufacturability of our chipsets, lower wafer cost, enhance yields, lower assembly and test costs, and improve quality.
In general, our latest generation solutions have higher prices compared to our prior generation solutions. As is typical in the semiconductor industry and
consistent with our historical trends, we expect the ASPs of our solutions to decline as those
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solutions mature and unit volumes increase. These ASP declines often occur with improvements in manufacturing yields and lower wafer, assembly and
testing costs, which may offset some or all of the margin reduction that results from lower ASPs.
Components of Results of Operations
Revenue
Our revenue is generated primarily from sales of our Wi-Fi solutions to our customer partners, net of accruals for estimated sales rebates. In addition, we
sell our Wi-Fi solutions to third-party distributors who in turn resell to OEMs and ODMs. Our Wi-Fi solutions are integrated into OEM products, such as
gateways, set-top boxes, repeaters or routers, which are then sold primarily to service providers. Our sales have historically been made on the basis of
purchase orders against our standard terms and conditions, rather than long-term agreements and revenue is recognized on a sell-in basis. We account for
rebates to end-user customer partners based on the rebates expected to be claimed under the terms of the arrangement. Claims for customer rebates are accrued
upon shipment to the ODM and adjusted based on historical settlement data. These rebate claim estimates are adjusted based on actual experience over time.
Sales of our Wi-Fi solutions fluctuate primarily based on competition, sales volume, customer inventory and price. We expect our revenue to fluctuate
from quarter to quarter due to a variety of factors, such as customer product development and deployment cycles and the purchasing patterns of our customer
partners and third-party distributors.
Cost of Revenue, Gross Margin
We utilize third-party contractors for the production of the chipsets included in our Wi-Fi solutions. Cost of revenue primarily relates to the purchase of
silicon wafers from our third-party foundry, and costs associated with assembly, testing and inbound and outbound shipping of our wafers and chipsets. After
we purchase wafers from our third-party foundry, we bear the manufacturing yield risk related to assembling and testing these wafers into chipsets, which can
result in benefit or expense recorded in cost of revenue. Cost of revenue also includes scrap and inventory obsolescence, royalty costs, and any accruals for
warranty obligations, which we record when revenue is recognized. Additionally, cost of revenue includes manufacturing overhead expense, such as
personnel cost which primarily consist of compensation costs related to employees, consultants and contractors, including salaries, sales commissions,
bonuses, stock-based compensation and other employee benefits, depreciation expense, and allocated administrative costs associated with supply chain
management and quality assurance activities as well as property insurance premiums.
We seek to negotiate price reductions, which historically has included rebates, from our third-party foundry on the purchase of silicon wafers upon
achieving certain volume targets. Such rebates are recorded as a reduction of inventory cost and are recognized as a reduction of cost of revenue. Because we
do not have long-term, fixed supply agreements, our wafer costs are subject to changes based on the cyclical demand for semiconductors.
We calculate gross margin as revenue less cost of revenue divided by revenue. Our gross margin has been and will continue to be affected by a variety of
factors, including ASPs, sales volume, and wafer, assembly and testing costs. The recent trade disputes and tariff increases may also impact gross margins. We
believe the primary driver of our gross margin is the ASPs negotiated between us and our customer partners, relative to the wafer, assembly and testing costs
for our Wi-Fi solutions. As each of our Wi-Fi solutions matures and sales volumes increase, we expect ASPs to decline. Historically, such ASP declines have
often coincided with lower wafer, assembly and testing costs, which have offset some or all of the gross margin reduction resulting from lower ASPs. In the
future, we expect our gross margin to fluctuate as a result of changes in ASPs, introductions of new Wi-Fi solutions, changes in our product and customer mix,
and changes in wafer, assembly and testing costs.
Operating Expenses
Our operating expenses consist of research and development (“R&D”), sales and marketing (“S&M”) and general and administrative (“G&A”) expenses.
Personnel costs are the largest component of operating expenses and primarily consist of compensation costs related to employees, consultants and
contractors, including salaries, sales commissions, bonuses, stock-based compensation and other employee benefits. As we continue to grow our business, we
expect operating expenses to increase in absolute dollars.
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Research and Development. Our R&D expenses consist primarily of personnel costs to support our R&D activities, including silicon design, software
development and testing, and customers partner’s product development support and qualification. R&D expenses also include tape-out costs, which include
layout services, mask sets, prototype wafers, mask set revisions, intellectual property license fees, and system qualification and testing incurred before
releasing new semiconductor designs into production. In addition, R&D expenses include design software and simulation tools licenses, depreciation
expense, and allocated administrative costs. All R&D costs are expensed as incurred.
Sales and Marketing. Our S&M expenses consist primarily of personnel costs for our S&M activities, including pre-sales support. S&M expenses also
included sales-based commissions we pay to independent sales representatives, public relations costs, trade show expenses, product marketing and
communication, promotional activities, travel and entertainment costs and allocated administrative costs.
General and Administrative. Our G&A expenses consist primarily of personnel costs for our administrative personnel in support of our infrastructure
functions such as general management, finance, human resources, legal, facilities and information technology. G&A expenses also include professional
services fees including legal and advisory fees relating to the proposed acquisition of our company by ON Semiconductor, insurance premiums, office
equipment and supplies, depreciation expense and allocated administrative costs.
Other Income, Net
Other income (expense), net consist primarily of interest income from our cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities portfolio, and the effect of
exchange rates on our foreign currency-denominated asset and liability balances.
Provision for Income Taxes
The Company had a tax benefit for income taxes for the three months ended March 31, 2019 primarily due to foreign tax expense and discrete windfall
tax benefits associated with stock options and also due to the net loss incurred during this period.
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Results of Operations
The following tables set forth our results of operations for the periods presented, in dollars and as a percentage of our revenue:
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2019

Amount

April 1,
2018
% of
Revenue

% of
Revenue

Amount

(In thousands, except per share data)

Revenue
Cost of revenue (1)

$

57,678
28,170

100.0 % $
48.8

45,117
22,352

100.0 %
49.5

Gross profit

29,508

51.2

22,765

50.5

Operating expenses (1)
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative

19,059
4,357
9,275

33.0
7.6
16.1

17,601
4,495
4,198

39.0
10.0
9.2

32,691

56.7

26,294

58.2

Loss from operations
Other income, net

(3,183)
697

(5.5)
1.2

(3,529)
334

(7.7)
0.7

Loss before income taxes
Benefit (provision) for income taxes

(2,486)
1,381

(4.3)
2.4

(3,195)
(52)

(7.0)
(0.1)
(7.1)%

Total operating expenses

Net loss

$

(1,105)

(1.9)% $

(3,247)

Net loss per share - basic and diluted
Weighted average shares used to compute basic and
diluted net loss per share

$

(0.03)

$

(0.09)

38,080

35,848

________________________

(1) Cost of revenue and operating expenses include stock-based compensation expense as follows:
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2019

April 1,
2018

(In thousands)

Cost of revenue
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total stock-based compensation expense
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$

85
2,890
749
1,506

$

34
2,393
984
1,181

$

5,230

$

4,592
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Comparison of the three months ended March 31, 2019 and April 1, 2018
Revenue, Cost of Revenue, Gross Profit and Gross Margin

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2019

April 1,
2018

Change

%
Change

(Dollars in thousands)

Revenue

$

Cost of revenue

57,678

$

28,170

Gross profit

$

Gross margin

29,508

$

51.2%

45,117

$12,561

28%

22,352

5,818

26%

22,765

$ 6,743

30%

50.5%

70bps

Revenue. Revenue increased $12.6 million, or 28%, to $57.7 million in the three months ended March 31, 2019 compared to the corresponding period in
2018, primarily due to higher unit volumes from increased sales of our new 11ac Wave 3 (“10G”) products and our 11ac Wave 2 products. This increase was
partially offset by declining sales of our legacy 11n products. Revenue included $2.0 million relating to the reversal of accrued customer rebate liabilities as
a result of a change in estimate of variable consideration due to the expiration of certain customer rebate liabilities in the period.
Cost of Revenue, Gross Profit and Gross Margin. Cost of revenue increased $5.8 million, or 26%, to $28.2 million in the three months ended March 31,
2019 compared to the corresponding period in 2018, as a result of higher unit volumes and changes to the product mix including an increased concentration
of our higher cost 10G product.
Gross profit increased $6.7 million, or 30%, to $29.5 million in the three months ended March 31, 2019 compared to the corresponding period in 2018
due to the higher unit volumes and changes to the product mix including an increased concentration of our higher priced 10G product.
Gross margin increased by 70 basis points, to 51.2%, in the three months ended March 31, 2019 compared to the corresponding period in 2018, primarily
due to an increased concentration of lower gross margin 10G product offset by the impact of $2.0 million in reversals of customer rebate liabilities.
Operating Expenses

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2019
Amount

April 1,
2018

% of
Revenue

Amount

% of
Revenue

Change

%
Change

(Dollars in thousands)

Operating expenses:
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total operating expenses

$

19,059
4,357
9,275

33.0% $
7.6
16.1

17,601
4,495
4,198

39.0% $
10.0
9.3

1,458
(138)
5,077

8%
(3)
121

$

32,691

56.7% $

26,294

58.3% $

6,397

24 %

Research and Development Expenses. R&D expenses increased $1.5 million, or 8%, to $19.1 million in the three months ended March 31, 2019
compared to the corresponding period in 2018. The increase was primarily due to a $1.8 million increase in personnel costs, including $0.5 million in stockbased compensation expense, resulting from a 3% increase in headcount to further develop and expand our solutions portfolio and support increased
customer product development activities, partially offset by a decrease of $0.2 million in tape-out and lay-out expenses and $0.1 million in professional
services.
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Sales and Marketing Expenses. S&M expenses decreased $0.1 million, or 3%, to $4.4 million in the three months ended March 31, 2019 compared to the
corresponding period in 2018, primarily due to a decrease of $0.2 million in personnel related costs partially offset by an increase of $0.1 million in
marketing and administrative expenses.
General and Administrative Expenses. G&A expenses increased $5.1 million, or 121%, to $9.3 million in the three months ended March 31, 2019
compared to the corresponding period in 2018, primarily due to transaction-related costs of $4.0 million associated with the pending merger with On
Semiconductor, and an increase of $1.0 million in personnel costs, including $0.3 million in stock-based compensation expense, as we grew our
administrative headcount by 24% to support the growth of our business.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Since our inception in 2005, we have funded our operations primarily through sales of our common stock in conjunction with our initial public offering
(“IPO”), private equity financing, gross profits generated from sales, technology licensing and debt financing arrangements. As of March 31, 2019 and
December 30, 2018, we had cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities of $136.5 million and $136.1 million, respectively, and as of March 31,
2019, we had an accumulated deficit of $125.2 million.
Based on our current operating plan, we expect that our cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities will be sufficient to fund our operations
through at least the next 12 months. However, our liquidity assumptions may prove to be incorrect, and we could utilize our available financial resources
sooner than we currently expect.
In the event that additional capital is needed, we may not be able to raise such capital on terms acceptable to us or at all. If we are unable to raise
additional capital when desired, our business, results of operations, and financial condition would be adversely affected. We may also seek to raise capital
opportunistically to support the anticipated growth of our business.
Cash Flows
The following table sets forth the primary sources and uses of cash and cash equivalents for each of the periods presented below:

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2019

April 1,
2018

(In thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities

$

Investing activities

235

$

790

Financing activities

$

760

6,769
(3,210)

$

(3,378)

Cash flows from Operating Activities
Net cash provided by operating activities for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and April 1, 2018 was $0.2 million and $6.8 million, respectively.
Net cash provided by operating activities for the three months ended March 31, 2019 of $0.2 million resulted from a net loss of $1.1 million, net cash
outflow from changes in operating assets and liabilities of $4.0 million and non-cash expenses of $5.2 million in stock based compensation, $2.0 million of
depreciation and amortization and $0.1 million of other non-cash expenses, partially offset by $2.0 million of non-cash deferred tax benefit. The $4.0 million
net cash outflow from changes in operating assets and liabilities primarily consisted of a $6.8 million increase in accounts receivable due to timing of
collections, a $0.9 million decrease in accounts payable due to timing of payments to our suppliers and a $0.6 million decrease in non-current liabilities due
to the payment of our facility lease obligations, partially offset by a $2.3 million decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets and a $2.0 million decrease in
inventory due to timing of raw materials purchases.
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Net cash provided by operating activities for the three months ended April 1, 2018 of $6.8 million resulted from a net loss of $3.2 million, net cash
inflow from changes in operating assets and liabilities of $4.3 million and non-cash expenses of $4.6 million of stock based compensation and $1.1 million
of depreciation and amortization. The $4.3 million cash inflow from changes in operating assets and liabilities primarily consisted of an increase of $8.7
million increase in accounts payable due to timing of payments to our suppliers, $1.1 million in accrued liabilities and other current liabilities from increased
in expenses consistent with the growth of our business and a $0.5 million increase in accounts receivable due to increased sales and timing of collections
offset by a $5.8 million decrease in inventory due to timing of raw materials purchases and a decrease of $0.2 million in prepaid expenses and other assets.
Cash flows from Investing Activities
Net cash provided by investing activities was $0.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 compared to net cash used in investing activities
for the three months ended April 1, 2018 of $3.2 million. Cash provided by investing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2019 related to $23.2
million in sales and maturities of marketable securities, partially offset by $21.5 million of marketable securities purchases and $0.9 million of property and
equipment purchases.
Cash used in investing activities for the three months ended April 1, 2018 related to $13.2 million of marketable securities purchases, $0.9 million of
property and equipment purchases and $0.6 million purchase of long-term investment, partially offset by maturities and sales of $11.5 million in marketable
securities.
Cash flows from Financing Activities.
Net cash provided by financing activities was $0.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 compared to net cash used in financing activities
for the three months ended April 1, 2018 of $3.4 million. Net cash provided by financing activities during the three months ended March 31, 2019 reflected
$3.0 million in proceeds from issuance of common stock, net, partially offset by payment of $1.9 million of taxes withheld for vested stock awards and
payments of $0.3 million related to intangible asset purchases.
Net cash flow used in financing activities during the three months ended April 1, 2018 reflected the repayment of our outstanding debt of $3.9 million
on January 2, 2018, payment of $0.6 million of taxes withheld for vested stock awards and payments of $0.3 million related to intangible asset purchase,
partially offset by $1.4 million in proceeds from issuance of common stock.
Contractual Obligations and Commitments
The following table summarizes our contractual commitments and obligations as of March 31, 2019:
Less Than
1 Year

Total

1-3 Years

(In thousands)

Commitments(1)

$

Software license commitments

4,900

$

2,232
$

________________________

7,132

2,400

$

2,500

$

3,244

1,488
$

3,888

744

(1) In April 2012, we entered into a letter agreement with RUSNANO, pursuant to which we agreed, among other matters, to create a subsidiary to be
incorporated in Russia and to fund such subsidiary in an aggregate amount of $20.0 million over three years. In July 2014, we amended and restated such
letter agreement with RUSNANO, pursuant to which we agreed, among other matters, to operate and fund our Russian operations in an aggregate amount
of $13.0 million over six annual periods beginning on December 31, 2014. The annual funding requirements in period one to period six are $2.2 million,
$1.7 million, $2.0 million, $2.2 million, $2.4 million, and $2.5 million, respectively. In the event that we fail to meet our funding obligations for any
period, we will be required to pay RUSNANO a penalty fee of 10% on 80% of the difference between the funding obligation and the actual funding for
that period, subject to a cure period of one calendar quarter after the applicable period funding deadline. As of March 31, 2019, we had met the minimum
funding requirements.
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Obligations under contracts that we can cancel without a significant penalty are not included in the table above. As of March 31, 2019, we have purchase
obligations of $19.9 million that are based on outstanding purchase orders related to the fabrication of silicon wafers for which production has started. These
purchase orders are cancellable at any time, provided that we are required to pay all costs incurred through the cancellation date. Historically, we have rarely
canceled these agreements once production has started. In addition, as of March 31, 2019, we also had a non-cancellable commitment with a vendor to
purchase additional intellectual property licenses up to $2.5 million upon the successful integration of the vendor’s existing software licenses with our
products.
Design Win Commitments
In order to further promote its Wi-Fi solutions and secure additional design wins with service providers (“SPs”), we enter into arrangements with some of
our OEMs and ODMs to incentivize the promotion of our design win solutions with SPs. Once a design win is secured through this arrangement, we are
obligated to compensate the OEM or ODM a success fee. The resulting liability is expected to be settled through the shipment of its Wi-Fi chips. As of
March 31, 2019, we had open commitments to its OEMs and ODMs under these arrangements amounting to $4.0 million. There is no guarantee that we will
secure some or all of these design wins (including the time frame when such design wins may be realized) in future reporting periods.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of March 31, 2019, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.
JOBS Act Accounting Election
The JOBS Act permits an “emerging growth company” such as us to take advantage of an extended transition period to comply with new or revised
accounting standards applicable to public companies. We are choosing to “opt out” of this provision and, as a result, we will comply with new or revised
accounting standards as required when they are adopted. This decision to opt out of the extended transition period under the JOBS Act is irrevocable.
Critical Accounting Policies, Significant Judgments and Use of Estimates
Our condensed consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“US
GAAP”). Our critical accounting policies are more fully described in this “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” section and Note 1, “The Company and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” contained in the “Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements” of our 2018 Annual Report on Form 10-K. There were no changes to our significant accounting policies during the three months ended
March 31, 2019.
An accounting policy is deemed to be critical if it requires an accounting estimate to be made based on assumptions about matters that are highly
uncertain at the time the estimate is made, and if different estimates that reasonably could have been used or changes in the accounting estimates that are
reasonably likely to occur periodically, could materially impact our condensed consolidated financial statements. Our critical accounting policies include
our more significant estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of our condensed consolidated financial statements. Our critical accounting policies
are described in Item 7, “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of our 2018 Annual Report on Form 10K.
On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our critical accounting policies and estimates, including those related to revenue recognition, inventory valuation,
stock-based compensation, common stock warrants, income taxes, contingencies and litigation. We base our estimates on historical experience and on
various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different
assumptions or conditions.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 2 contained in the “Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements” in Item 1 of Part I of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for a full
description of the recent accounting pronouncements and our explanation of their impact, if any, on our results of operations and financial condition.
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Item 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
We have operations both within the United States and internationally, and we are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business. We are
primarily exposed to market risks related to changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and inflation, as well as risks relating to changes in the
general economic conditions in the countries where we conduct business. These exposures may change over time as business practices evolve and could have
a material adverse impact on our financial results.
Interest Rate Risk
We had cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities of $136.5 million and $136.1 million as of March 31, 2019 and December 30, 2018,
respectively. We manage our cash and cash equivalents portfolio and marketable securities for operating and working capital purposes.
Our cash and cash equivalents are held in cash, short-term money market funds, agency securities and commercial paper with maturities of less than 90
days when purchased. Due to the short-term nature of these instruments, we believe that we do not have any material exposure to changes in the fair value of
our cash equivalents portfolio as a result of changes in interest rates. Declines in interest rates, however, would reduce our future interest income. During the
three months ended March 31, 2019, the effect of a hypothetical 100-basis point (one percentage point) increase or decrease in overall interest rates would
have affected our interest income by approximately $1.0 million.
Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to our investment portfolio comprising of marketable securities. We invest in a
number of securities including U.S. agency notes, U.S. treasuries, commercial paper, corporate bonds, municipal bonds and money market funds. We attempt
to ensure the safety and preservation of our invested principal funds by limiting default risk, market risk and reinvestment risk. We mitigate default risk by
investing in high grade investment securities.
The fair market value of our fixed rate securities may be adversely impacted by increases in interest rates while income earned may decline as a result of
decreases in interest rates. A hypothetical 100 basis-point (one percentage point) increase or decrease in interest rates compared to rates at March 31, 2019
would have affected the fair value of our investment portfolio by approximately $0.6 million.
Foreign Currency Exchange Risk
To date, all of our revenue and the majority of our operating expenses have been denominated in U.S. dollars. Some operating expenses, primarily
associated with our international subsidiaries, are denominated in foreign currencies and are therefore exposed to fluctuations due to changes in foreign
currency exchange rates, which may cause us to recognize transaction gains and losses in our consolidated statements of operations. We have therefore
established a currency risk management program to hedge against fluctuations and volatility of future cash flows caused by changes in currency exchange
rates. Under this program, our strategy is to have increases or decreases in foreign currency exposures mitigated by gains or losses on the foreign currency
forward derivative contracts in order to mitigate the risks and volatility associated with foreign currency transaction gains or losses. This strategy reduces, but
does not always entirely eliminate, the impact of currency exchange rate movements. Refer to Note 7 to the condensed consolidated financial statements,
Derivative Instruments, for further details.
Item 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.
Based on our management’s evaluation (with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer), as of the end of the
period covered by this report, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (the “Exchange Act”)) are effective to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within
the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms and is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our
principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that
occurred during the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.
Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls
Control systems, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control systems’ objectives are
being met. Further, the design of any control systems must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of all controls must be
considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all
control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within our company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in
decision making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Control systems can also be circumvented by the individual
acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls is based, in part,
on certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under
all potential future conditions. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or deterioration in the degree of compliance
with policies or procedures.
CEO and CFO Certifications
We have attached as exhibits to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q the certifications of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer,
which are required in accordance with the Exchange Act. We recommend that this Item 4 be read in conjunction with the certifications for a more complete
understanding of the subject matter presented.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
We are currently not party to litigation that could reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on our business. From time to time, we may be
subject to legal proceedings and claims arising in the ordinary course of business. The semiconductor and Wi-Fi industries are characterized by frequent
claims and litigation, including claims regarding infringement of intellectual property rights. Litigation is often unpredictable, costly, diverts management’s
attention, and may result in an unfavorable outcome, including monetary damages or injunctive relief.
Item 1A. RISK FACTORS
You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, together with all of the other information in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q, including “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our condensed consolidated
financial statements and related notes included elsewhere. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risk and
uncertainties not presently known to us or that we presently deem less significant may also impair our business operations. If any of the events or
circumstances described in the following risk factors actually occurs, our business, operating results, financial condition, cash flows and prospects could
be materially and adversely affected. In that event, the trading price of our common stock could decline, and you could lose part or all of your investment.
Risks Related to Our Proposed Merger with ON Semiconductor
The announcement or pendency of our proposed merger with ON Semiconductor may have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flow
and results of operations and the trading price of our common stock.
On March 27, 2019, Quantenna, ON Semiconductor Corporation, and Raptor Operations Sub, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of ON Semiconductor,
entered into a definitive agreement and plan of merger (the “Merger Agreement”). Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, ON Semiconductor agreed to acquire
Quantenna through a merger (the “Merger”), subject to satisfaction of certain closing conditions. As a result of the Merger Agreement, we are subject to
business uncertainties and contractual restrictions while the Merger is pending that could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations, including without limitation, potential uncertainty about the direction of our product offerings and the support and service of our products after
the Merger is consummated. For example, the announcement or pendency of the Merger could have an adverse effect on our revenue and business if our
customers delay, defer or cancel purchases or design win opportunities pending completion of the Merger. Additionally, we are subject to additional risks in
connection with the announcement and pendency of the Merger, including:
•

potential adverse effects on our relationships with our current suppliers and other business partners, or other third parties with which we are seeking
to establish business relationships;

•

the restrictions imposed on our business and operations by certain covenants set forth in the Merger Agreement, which may prevent us from pursuing
certain opportunities without ON Semiconductor’s approval;

•

that we may forego opportunities we might otherwise pursue absent the Merger Agreement;

•

potential adverse effects on our ability to attract, recruit, retain and motivate current and prospective employees who may be uncertain about their
future roles and relationships with the combined company following the completion of the Merger;

•

the pendency and outcome of any legal proceedings that may be instituted against us, our directors and others relating to the transactions
contemplated by the Merger Agreement; and

•

the diversion of our employees’ and management’s attention due to activities related to the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement.
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Failure to complete the Merger could negatively impact our business, financial condition, cash flow and results of operations and the trading price of our
common stock.
The respective obligations of Quantenna and ON Semiconductor to complete the Merger are subject to the satisfaction or waiver of certain
customary conditions, including the adoption of the Merger Agreement by our stockholders, receipt of certain regulatory approvals in the United States and
other jurisdictions, the absence of any legal prohibitions to the consummation of the Merger, the accuracy of the representations and warranties of the parties,
and compliance by the parties with their respective obligations under the Merger Agreement. Certain of these conditions are not within our control, and there
can be no assurance that these conditions to the completion of the Merger will be satisfied in a timely manner, or at all. In addition, lawsuits arising out of or
relating to the Merger Agreement or the Merger may be filed in the future. If the actions that may be brought are successful, the Merger could be delayed or
prevented.
If the Merger is not completed, the trading price for our common stock could be negatively impacted. Furthermore, if the Merger is not completed,
we may suffer other consequences that could adversely affect our business, results of operations and share price, including the following:
•

we could be required to pay a termination fee of $32.2 million to ON Semiconductor under certain circumstances as described in the Merger
Agreement;

•

we would have incurred significant costs in connection with the Merger;

•

we may be subject to additional legal proceedings related to the Merger;

•

the failure of the acquisition to be consummated may result in negative publicity and a negative impression of us in the investment community and
our customers, partners and vendors;

•

any disruptions to our business resulting from the announcement or pendency of the acquisition, including any adverse changes in our relationships
with our customers, partners, vendors and employees, may continue or intensify in the event the Merger is not consummated;

•

we may not be able to take advantage of alternative business opportunities or effectively respond to competitive pressures; and

•

we may have difficulties to attract, recruit, retain and motivate current and prospective employees.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
If we fail to develop and introduce new or enhanced Wi-Fi solutions to meet the requirements of our target markets on a timely basis, our ability to retain
and attract customers could be impaired and our competitive position could be harmed.
We are largely dependent on sales of leading-edge, high-performance Wi-Fi solutions. The markets we target with our solutions are characterized by
rapidly changing technology, changing customer and service provider needs, evolving industry standards, intense competition and frequent introductions of
new products. To succeed, we must effectively anticipate customer and service provider requirements and respond to these requirements on a timely basis. For
example, we were the first to announce an 802.11ac 8x8 product, our QSR-10G product, in September 2015. We also announced new products based on the
draft 802.11ax standard, which was designated as “Wi-Fi 6” by the Wi-Fi Alliance in October 2018, in October 2016 and January 2017. If we fail to develop
new Wi-Fi solutions or enhancements to our existing solutions that offer increased features and performance in a cost-effective manner, or if our customers or
service providers do not believe that our solutions have compelling technological advantages, our business could be adversely affected. We must also
successfully manage the transition from older solutions to new or enhanced solutions to minimize disruptions in our business. In addition, if our competitors
introduce new products that outperform our solutions or provide similar performance at lower prices, we may lose market share or be required to reduce our
prices. For example, in February 2017, Qualcomm announced a new 8x8 product based on the draft Wi-Fi 6 standard that may compete with our previously
announced product. In addition, in August 2017, Broadcom announced new 4x4 Wi-Fi connectivity solutions based on the draft Wi-Fi 6 standard and in
January 2018, Intel announced new chipsets based on the draft Wi-Fi 6 standard for mainstream 2x2 and 4x4 home routers and gateways. We expect our
competitors will also introduce new products based on new standards and other next generation technologies in the future. In addition, establishment of new
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standards, such as Wi-Fi 6, must go through an extensive process with the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers as well as an extensive
certification process with the Wi-Fi Alliance, and may be subject to delays and revision. Our failure to accurately predict market needs or timely develop WiFi solutions that address market needs could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.
The complexity of our solutions could result in unforeseen design and development delays or expenditures.
Developing our Wi-Fi solutions is expensive, complex and time-consuming, and involves uncertainties. We must often make significant investments in
product roadmaps, design and development far in advance of established market needs and may not be able to consistently and accurately predict what those
actual needs will be in the future. Each phase in the development of our solutions presents serious risks of failure, rework or delay, any one of which could
impact the timing and cost-effective development of such solutions and could jeopardize customer acceptance of the solutions. Product development efforts
may last two years or longer, and require significant investments of time, third-party development costs, prototypes and sample materials, as well as sales and
marketing resources and expenses, which will not be recouped if the product launch is unsuccessful. We also have limited resources and may not be able to
develop alternative designs or address a variety of differing market requirements in parallel. Our failure to adequately address any such delays in a costeffective manner could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.
In addition, as is common in our industry, our Wi-Fi solutions may contain defects, errors and bugs when they are first introduced or as new versions are
released. We have in the past, and may in the future, experience defects, errors and bugs. For example, in 2015, in response to a defect we identified, we were
required to make a revision to one of our semiconductors, which resulted in a four-month delay in product introduction. Product defects, errors or bugs could
affect the performance of our products resulting in reliability, quality or compatibility problems, cause reduced manufacturing yields, result in excess or
obsolete inventory, and delay the development or shipments of new solutions or new versions of our solutions. As a result, our reputation may be damaged
and the market adoption of our Wi-Fi solutions could be adversely affected. If any of these problems are not found until after we have commenced shipment
of a new solution, we may incur significant additional development costs to redesign, recall, repair or replace the defective solution. These problems may also
trigger warranty or contractual indemnity claims against us by our customers or others, and our reputation and results of operations may be adversely affected.
Our solutions must also successfully operate with products from other vendors. As a result, when problems occur in a customer product in which our
solution is used, it may be difficult to identify the source of these problems. The products of our customers that use our solutions can also be very complex,
which can increase the possibility of design, development or production issues. For example, our customers may be dependent on the successful development
and testing of our solutions with products from other vendors as well as the availability on a timely and cost-effective basis of all of the necessary
components used in our customers’ final products. The occurrence of hardware and software errors, whether or not caused by our solutions, could result in the
delay or loss of market adoption of our solutions, and therefore delay our ability to recognize revenue from sales, and any necessary repairs may cause us to
incur significant expenses. The occurrence of any such problems could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.
We depend on a limited number of customers and service providers for a significant portion of our revenue.
We derive a significant portion of our revenue from a small number of OEMs and ODMs, and we anticipate that we will continue to do so for the
foreseeable future. In 2018, four customers accounted for approximately 52% of our revenue. In 2017, six customers accounted for approximately 52% of our
revenue. In 2016, five customers accounted for approximately 54% of our revenue. In 2018 and 2017, one customer accounted for more than 10% of our
revenue, representing 29% and 16% of our revenue, respectively. In 2016, three customers accounted for more than 10% of our revenues, representing 19%,
11% and 11% of our revenue.
In addition, substantially all of our revenue to date has been generated by sales of our solutions to OEMs and ODMs serving the service provider market
for home networking. Based on sell-through information provided to us by our OEM and ODM customers, we estimate that the two largest service providers,
which are both based in the United States, represented on a combined basis approximately 34% of our revenue in 2018. The demand from these OEM and
ODM customers and, their service provider customers, is subject to fluctuations based on a variety of factors affecting the service provider industry and their
related businesses. The loss of a key customer or service provider, or a reduction in sales to any key customer or service provider could
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negatively impact our revenue, cause us to have excess or obsolete inventory, and harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.
We have an accumulated deficit and have incurred net losses in the past, and we may incur net losses in the future.
We have incurred net losses in the past and may incur net losses in the future. For the three months ended March 31, 2019 and April 1, 2018, we incurred
net losses of $1.1 million and $3.2 million, respectively. As of March 31, 2019, we had an accumulated deficit of $125.2 million. We expect to continue to
make significant investments related to the development of our Wi-Fi solutions and the expansion of our business, including investments to support our
research and development, sales and marketing and general and administrative functions. As a public company, we also incur significant additional legal,
accounting and other expenses. If we fail to continue to grow our revenue or if our revenue growth is not sufficient to offset the growth of these anticipated
expenses, we may not be able to achieve or sustain profitability, and our stock price could decline.
We face intense competition from a number of larger and more established companies and expect competition to increase in the future, which could have
an adverse effect on our market share, revenue and results of operations.
Many of our competitors, including Broadcom, Intel Corporation, Marvell, MediaTek, and Qualcomm, have greater financial, technical, sales, marketing
and other resources than we do, as well as longer operating histories, greater name recognition, larger customer bases and more established customer
relationships. In the future, we may also face competition from other new and emerging companies, including from companies in China.
Our competitors may be able to anticipate, influence or adapt more quickly to new or emerging technologies and standards and changes in customer and
service provider requirements. Our competitors may also be able to devote greater resources to the promotion and sale of their products, initiate or withstand
substantial price competition, take advantage of acquisitions or other opportunities more readily and develop and expand their product offerings more
quickly than we can. In addition, many of our larger competitors offer a broader range of products than we do, including non-Wi-Fi products. These
competitors may be able to sell at lower margins, bundle additional products and features with their Wi-Fi products, leverage incumbent positions, or create
closed platforms that discourage customers or service providers from purchasing our Wi-Fi solutions. This strategy may be particularly effective for customers
and service providers who prefer the convenience of purchasing all of their Wi-Fi products from a single provider. If we are unable to maintain our
competitive advantages through the delivery of superior solutions, our business, results of operations and financial condition may be harmed.
Consolidation in our industry or in a related industry that involves our customers, service providers, partners and competitors could disrupt our business.
There has been a significant amount of consolidation in our industry and related industries. Examples include consolidation among service providers,
such as the acquisition of DIRECTV by AT&T in 2015; consolidation involving our customers, such as the acquisition of the Cisco service provider
consumer premise equipment (CPE) business by Technicolor in 2015, the acquisition of Pace plc, by ARRIS Group, Inc., in 2016, and the acquisition of
ARRIS International plc by CommScope Holding Company, Inc., which was announced in November 2018 and completed in April 2019; consolidation
involving our partners, such as the acquisition of Freescale Semiconductor by NXP Semiconductors in 2015; and consolidation involving our competitors,
such as the acquisition of Broadcom by Avago Technologies in 2016, the proposed acquisition of NXP Semiconductors by Qualcomm announced in October
2016 and abandoned in July 2018 after failing to obtain regulatory approval in China, and the acquisition of Cavium Inc. by Marvell announced in
November 2017 and completed in July 2018. In addition, in November 2017, Broadcom announced an unsolicited offer to acquire Qualcomm. Broadcom
subsequently withdrew and terminated its offer to acquire Qualcomm in March 2018 after the President of the United States issued an executive order
prohibiting the acquisition of Qualcomm by Broadcom.
Consolidation among our customers, service providers, competitors and other industry related third parties, including during the period between the
announcement and closing of acquisitions when the transaction may be undergoing regulatory scrutiny and otherwise seeking to satisfy required closing
conditions, can create significant industry uncertainty, which could impact demand for our Wi-Fi solutions and could cause delays in the purchase of our WiFi solutions or the loss of business. For example, in 2015 our two largest service providers consolidated, resulting in the cancellation of previously submitted
purchase orders, which adversely impacted our revenue for several quarters. Consolidation among our customers, service providers, competitors and other
industry related third parties could adversely affect the competitive landscape and industry dynamics, including causing increased pricing pressure,
intensifying the focus of our competitors on certain markets or customers that could cause us to lose
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market share or customers, and enabling our competitors to leverage complementary products or technologies of the combined company. Accordingly, any
industry consolidation could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Our customers may cancel their orders, change production quantities or delay production, which could harm our business.
Our customers typically do not provide us with firm, long-term purchase commitments. Substantially all of our sales to date have been made on a
purchase order basis, which permits our customers to cancel, change or delay their purchases of our solutions with little or no notice to us. As a result, our
ability to accurately forecast customer demand is limited. Any such cancellation of or decrease in purchase orders subjects us to a number of risks, including
unanticipated revenue shortfalls, loss of volume-based wafer rebates from our third-party foundry and excess or obsolete inventory.
We may face claims of intellectual property infringement, which could be time-consuming and costly to defend or settle and, if adversely adjudicated,
could harm our business.
The semiconductor industry is characterized by vigorous protection and pursuit of intellectual property rights, which has resulted in protracted and
expensive litigation for many companies. We have received communications from third parties, including non-practicing entities, alleging our infringement
of their patents, and we may receive additional claims of infringement in the future. For example, in October 2016, a third party filed suit in the United States
District Court for the Northern District of Illinois alleging infringement by us of nine expired United States patents. While this matter was favorably settled by
us for an immaterial amount, we cannot predict the results of other future litigation with other third parties. See Note 8, “Commitments and Contingencies”
contained in the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. In addition, our customers and service
providers may become subject to litigation or receive communications regarding alleged infringement of their products that implicate our Wi-Fi solutions.
We have certain contractual obligations to defend and indemnify our customers and other third parties from damages and costs which may arise in
connection with any such infringement claims. We or our customers may be required to obtain licenses for such patents, which could require us to pay
royalties. Any lawsuits could subject us to significant liability for damages, invalidate our proprietary rights and harm our business and our ability to
compete. Any litigation, regardless of success or merit, could cause us to incur substantial expenses, reduce our sales and divert the efforts of our technical
and management personnel. If we receive an adverse result in any litigation, we could be required to pay substantial damages, seek licenses from third parties,
which may not be available on reasonable terms or at all, cease sale of products or licensing of our technology, expend significant resources to redesign our
solutions, develop alternative technology or discontinue the use of processes requiring the relevant technology.
Our failure to adequately protect our intellectual property rights could impair our ability to compete effectively or defend ourselves from litigation, which
could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.
Our success depends, in part, on our ability to adequately protect our intellectual property. We rely primarily on patent, copyright, trademark and trade
secret laws, as well as confidentiality and non-disclosure agreements and other contractual provisions, to protect our proprietary technologies and know-how.
As of March 31, 2019, we had 60 issued patents in the United States and five foreign counterpart patents issued in Taiwan. The rights granted to us may not
be meaningful or provide us with any commercial advantage. For example, any patent claims we make may be deemed insufficient to cover the third party’s
product or technology or the patent could be opposed, contested, circumvented, designed around or be declared invalid or unenforceable in judicial or
administrative proceedings. The failure of any of our patents to adequately protect our technology could make it easier for our competitors to offer similar
products or technologies. Our foreign patent protection is not as comprehensive as our United States patent protection. As a result, we may not be able to
effectively protect our intellectual property in some countries where our solutions are sold or may be sold in the future. Even if foreign patents are granted,
effective enforcement in foreign countries may be challenging or may not be available. Furthermore, changes to the patent laws in the United States and other
jurisdictions could also diminish the value of our patents and patent applications or narrow the scope of our patent protection.
We cannot ensure that the steps we have taken will prevent unauthorized use of our intellectual property or the reverse engineering of our technology. In
addition to the protection afforded by patents, we rely on confidential proprietary information, including trade secrets and know-how, to develop and
maintain our competitive position. Any disclosure or misappropriation by third parties of our confidential proprietary information could enable competitors
to quickly duplicate our proprietary information, thus eroding our competitive position. We seek to protect our proprietary information in part by
confidentiality agreements with our employees, contractors, customers, partners and other third parties. These agreements are designed to
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protect our proprietary information; however, any of these parties may breach the agreements and disclose our proprietary information, and we may not be
able to obtain adequate remedies for such breaches. Detecting and monitoring unauthorized use of our intellectual property can be difficult and costly. It is
possible that unauthorized use of our intellectual property may have occurred or may occur without our knowledge. Our failure to adequately protect our
intellectual property could adversely impact our ability to maintain a competitive advantage in our markets, thus harming our business, results of operations
and financial condition.
We may in the future need to initiate infringement claims or litigation to try to protect our intellectual property rights. Litigation, whether we are a
plaintiff or a defendant, can be very expensive and time-consuming and may divert the efforts of our technical and management personnel without resulting
in a favorable outcome. Further, many of our current and potential competitors have the ability to dedicate substantially greater resources to defending
intellectual property infringement claims and to enforcing their intellectual property rights. If we are unable to protect our proprietary rights or if third parties
independently develop or gain access to our or similar technologies, our business, revenue, reputation and competitive position could be harmed.
We may have difficulty accurately predicting our future revenue, cost of revenue, operating expense, working capital, and capital investments.
We were incorporated in 2005 and only began shipments of our Wi-Fi solutions in 2010. As a result, we have a limited operating history from which to
predict future operating results. This limited operating history, combined with the rapidly evolving nature of the markets in which we sell our Wi-Fi
solutions, substantial uncertainty concerning how these markets may develop, limited visibility into the purchasing decisions and timing of our customers
and end customers, and other factors beyond our control, limit our ability to accurately forecast our future revenue, cost of revenue, operating expense,
working capital, and capital investments. Additionally, if we are unable to accurately forecast customer demand or service provider deployments in a timely
manner, we may not build enough supply or maintain enough inventory, which could lead to delays in product shipments and lost sales opportunities, as
well as cause our customers to identify alternative sources of supply. Alternatively, we may accumulate excess or obsolete inventory. Any of these factors
could harm our margins, increase our write-offs due to product obsolescence and restrict our ability to fund our operations. If our revenue does not increase as
anticipated, we could incur significant losses to the extent we are unable to decrease our expenses in a timely manner to offset any shortfall in future revenue.
Any failure to accurately predict our future operating results could cause us to miss our financial projections and adversely affect the price of our common
stock.
If we are unable to effectively manage any future growth, we may not be able to execute our business plan and our results of operations could suffer.
We have expanded our operations significantly since our inception in 2005 and anticipate that further expansion will be required to achieve our
business objectives. For example, we grew from 380 employees as of December 31, 2017 to 410 employees as of March 31, 2019, and we expect our
headcount to continue to grow as we scale our business. The growth and expansion of our business have placed and will continue to place a significant strain
on our management, operations and financial resources. We expect that any future growth will also add complexity to, and require effective coordination
throughout, our organization.
To manage any future growth effectively, we must continue to improve and expand our operating and administrative systems and controls. We may not
be able to successfully implement improvements to these systems and controls in a timely or efficient manner, which could result in operating inefficiencies
and could cause our costs to increase more than planned. If we are unable to effectively manage our future growth, our business, results of operations and
financial condition may be harmed.
We rely on a limited number of third-party contractors and suppliers in connection with the design and manufacture of certain parts of our solutions. The
failed performance or loss of any of these third parties may adversely impact our business.
We currently depend on a single foundry, Taiwan Semiconductor Manufacturing Company Limited (“TSMC”), for the supply of our mask-sets and for
the fabrication of our wafers. We also depend on a limited number of sources in connection with the design, development, testing and assembly of our
solutions and components thereof. We currently do not have long-term supply contracts with any of our third-party contractors or suppliers, and we typically
negotiate pricing separately for each purchase order. Therefore, our contractors and suppliers are not obligated to perform services or supply products to us for
any specific period, in any specific quantities, or at any specific price, except as may be provided in a particular purchase order. Sufficient capacity at our
third-party foundry or the third-party contractors we rely on for assembly and testing may not be
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available when we need it or at reasonable prices. In addition, we rely on intellectual property rights and software development tools from third-parties such
as Cadence Design Systems, Inc., Mentor Graphics Corporation, and Synopsys, Inc., to support the design, development, simulation and verification of new
solutions or enhancement to existing solutions. If licenses to such technologies are not available on commercially reasonable terms and conditions, or such
products become unavailable for any other reason, and we cannot otherwise integrate such technologies, our solutions or our customers’ products could
become unmarketable or obsolete, and we could lose market share. In such instances, we could also incur substantial unanticipated costs or scheduling delays
to develop or acquire substitute technologies to deliver competitive products.
If we lose any of our single source or limited source contractors or suppliers, we could be required to transition to a new third party, which could increase
our costs, result in delays in the manufacture and delivery of our solutions, require a redesign of our solutions to transition to alternative sources, or cause us
to carry excess, obsolete or insufficient inventory. In addition, if these contractors or suppliers fail to produce and deliver our solutions according to required
specifications, quantity, quality, cost and time requirements, our business, results of operations and financial condition could suffer.
Our results of operations are likely to vary significantly from period to period, which could cause the trading price of our common stock to decline.
Our results of operations have fluctuated from period to period, and we expect such results to continue to fluctuate as a result of a number of factors,
many of which are outside our control and may be difficult to predict, including:
•

the fluctuations in demand for high-performance Wi-Fi products in general;

•

the inherent complexity, length and associated unpredictability of the sales cycles for our Wi-Fi solutions;

•

changing market conditions and competitive dynamics of our markets, including new entrants and current and potential customer or service
provider consolidation;

•

timing of introductions of new products by our customers and service providers and our ability to secure design wins related to such products;

•

seasonality and other fluctuations in the ordering patterns of our customers and service providers or other end customers;

•

changes to or inaccurate demand forecasts from our customers and service providers;

•

delays in deployment schedules or program cancellations by service providers, which can result in delays or cancellations of purchases by our
customers;

•

the timing and amount of purchase orders, especially from significant customers;

•

reductions in or cancellations of purchase orders by our customers, including with little or no notice;

•

changes in the mix of our sales in the service provider market versus retail, enterprise or consumer electronics end markets and among different
customers;

•

declines in average selling prices (“ASPs”) and the extent to which the impact of such declines is offset by increased sales volume or decreased
manufacturing and other costs;

•

changes in manufacturing costs, including wafer fabrication, testing and assembly costs, manufacturing yields and product quality and reliability;

•

our ability to develop, introduce and ship new Wi-Fi solutions in a timely manner and anticipate future market demands that meet our customers’
requirements;

•

the timing and amount of tape-out costs;

•

timing of headcount adjustments;

•

the timing and amount of litigation expense or settlement of any litigation or other disputes;

•

volatility in our stock price, which may lead to material changes in stock compensation expense;

•

the impact and timing of taxes or changes in tax law; and

•

our ability to derive benefits from our investments in research, development, sales, marketing, and other activities.
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The effects of the risk factors noted herein could result in large fluctuations and unpredictability in our quarterly and annual results of operations.
Therefore, comparing our results of operations on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful, and you should not rely on our past results as an indication
of our future performance.
If we fail to successfully address additional Wi-Fi markets, our revenue growth and financial condition could be harmed.
Currently, we sell most of our Wi-Fi solutions to OEMs and ODMs that target the service provider market for home networking. Our success will depend
in part on our ability to expand beyond the service provider market to other Wi-Fi markets, including the enterprise and consumer electronics markets, as well
as grow our market share in the retail market. These other markets have separate and unique requirements that may not be directly addressed by our current
Wi-Fi solutions, including different specifications, performance requirements and product support needs. For example, our current Wi-Fi solutions may not be
well suited for certain market opportunities and may require significant new functionality or features. Therefore, meeting the technical requirements and
securing design wins with customers targeting these markets will require a substantial investment of our time and resources. We may also face challenges and
delays in accurately understanding the specific needs of new markets, which in turn may impair our ability to develop the customer and partner relationships
necessary to be successful in such markets. If any of these markets do not develop as we currently anticipate or if we are unable to penetrate them
successfully, our growth opportunities could be harmed and our business, results of operations and financial condition could be negatively impacted.
If we fail to successfully leverage our engineering expertise to penetrate markets beyond Wi-Fi, our long-term revenue growth and financial condition
could be harmed.
Our future growth will depend in part on our ability to leverage our engineering expertise in wireless and communications to address other markets
beyond Wi-Fi. We have historically focused on high-performance Wi-Fi solutions, and may not be successful in identifying or implementing strategies to
penetrate and sustain growth in new markets. If we are unable to develop solutions that are applicable beyond the Wi-Fi market, or to manage the expansion
and growth of our business in such markets, our long-term revenue growth and financial condition could be harmed.
If we are unable to attract, train and retain qualified and key personnel, particularly our engineering personnel, we may not be able to execute our
business strategy effectively.
We believe our future success will depend in large part upon our ability to attract, train and retain highly skilled management, engineering and sales and
marketing personnel. Each of our employees is an at-will employee. The loss of any key employees or the inability to attract, train or retain qualified
personnel, particularly our engineering personnel, could harm our business. For example, if any of these individuals were to leave unexpectedly, we could
face substantial difficulty in hiring qualified successors and could experience a loss in productivity during the search for any such successor and while any
successor is integrated into our business and operations.
Our key engineering personnel represent a significant asset and serve as the source of our technological and product innovations. We may not be
successful in attracting, training and retaining sufficient numbers of technical and engineering personnel to support our anticipated growth. In addition, any
changes to immigration laws, or uncertainty regarding potential changes, could impact our ability to hire technical and engineering personnel on a timely
basis. The competition for qualified engineering personnel in our industry is very intense, especially in the San Francisco Bay Area, where we have a
substantial presence and need for highly skilled personnel.
To compete effectively in the Wi-Fi marketplace, we rely on industry partners, some of which may be our competitors, to enable and complement our Wi-Fi
solutions.
Our Wi-Fi solutions need to be integrated with other components and products, such as broadband processors, video system on chips and network
processors, to serve the service provider markets. We have developed relationships with various third-party partners who enable and enhance our ability to
bring our Wi-Fi solutions to various markets. These partners can provide critical support to enable us to reach certain markets and better address customer
needs, including through the development of joint reference designs, the establishment of relationships with key customers, the validation of our Wi-Fi
solutions, and the creation of bundled solutions to contend with competitive offerings. For example, when our Wi-Fi solution is designed into a product that
also incorporates Intel or Broadcom network processors or other components, we depend on the ability of these partners to deliver their products in a timely
fashion in order to meet shipping schedules. These partners may also be our competitors, which can negatively impact their willingness to collaborate with
us, to support the integration of our solutions
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with their products, and to pursue joint sales and marketing efforts. In addition, in some cases it may be necessary to share competitively sensitive
information with our partners that could enable our partners to compete more effectively against us or create uncertainty regarding ownership of intellectual
property rights. If we are unable to continue to successfully develop or maintain these relationships, we may not be able to compete effectively and our
business and results of operations may be adversely affected.
Our historical growth rate may not be indicative of future financial results.
You should not consider the growth rate in our revenue in recent periods as indicative of our future performance. For example, our revenue increased to
$220.5 million in the year ended December 30, 2018 from $176.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2017, representing a 25% increase. We may not be
able to grow at the same rate, or a higher rate, in future periods compared to historical rates. Our revenue may be adversely impacted by various factors,
including reduced or delayed demand for our Wi-Fi solutions, increased competition, a decrease in the size of our target markets, and the failure to capitalize
on growth opportunities and other risk factors described herein. Moreover, even if our revenue continues to increase in absolute terms, we expect that our
revenue growth rate will decline over time as we mature as a public company.
We may pursue strategic acquisitions or partnerships which could require significant management attention, increase operating risk, dilute stockholder
value, fail to achieve intended results, and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.
We may acquire other businesses, products or technologies, or partner with other businesses. Our ability to make and successfully integrate acquisitions
is unproven. Even if we complete one or more acquisitions or strategic partnerships, we may not be able to strengthen our competitive position or realize the
intended benefits of the acquisition or the strategic partnership in a timely manner, or at all. Any acquisitions or strategic partnerships may also be viewed
negatively by our customers, financial markets or investors. In addition, any acquisitions we make could lead to difficulties in integrating technologies,
products and operations from the acquired businesses and in retaining and motivating key personnel from these businesses. Acquisitions may disrupt our
ongoing operations, divert management from their primary responsibilities, subject us to additional liabilities, increase our expense and adversely impact our
business. Acquisitions may also reduce our cash available for operations and other uses, and could also result in an increase in amortization expense related
to identifiable assets acquired, potentially dilutive issuances of equity securities or the incurrence of debt, any of which could harm our business.
Our business is subject to disruption from hazards, natural disasters, terrorism, political unrest and other similar events, which could cause significant
delays in the design, development, production or shipment of our solutions.
Our operations and those of our third-party contractors are vulnerable to interruptions caused by technical breakdowns, computer hardware and software
malfunctions, software viruses, infrastructure failures, fires, earthquakes, tsunamis, flooding, power losses, telecommunications failures, terrorist attacks, wars,
political unrest and disputes, Internet failures and other events beyond our control. For example, our sole foundry, TSMC, is located in Taiwan, which has
been subject to a number of earthquakes, which has in the past impacted, and may in the future impact, the fabrication of our solutions. In addition, a
significant portion of our engineering equipment, servers, storage and networking equipment, and other office equipment is located in our offices in the
seismically active San Francisco Bay Area and Taiwan. Another example relates to rising political tensions and the potential for one or more countries to
engage in hostilities with North Korea that could adversely affect various locations where we or our customers conduct business. If we suffer a significant
hazard or outage to these offices and equipment, our business could experience disruption, which could harm our business and negatively impact our
business, results of operations and financial condition.
The average selling prices for our Wi-Fi solutions could decrease over time, which could harm our revenue, gross margin and results of operations.
Products sold in our industry, including our Wi-Fi solutions, have often experienced a decrease in ASPs over time. We anticipate that the ASPs of our
solutions may decrease in the future in response to competitive pricing pressures, customer expectations for price reduction, increased sales discounts, and
new product introductions by our competitors. Our future results of operations may be harmed due to the decrease of our average selling prices.
Additionally, because we use a fabless semiconductor business model and rely on third-party contractors to fabricate, assemble, and test our chipset
designs, we may not be able to reduce our costs as rapidly as companies that operate their own
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manufacturing processes, and our costs may even increase, which could also reduce our gross margins. To maintain our current gross margins or increase our
gross margins in the future, we must develop and introduce on a timely basis new solutions and enhancements to existing solutions; continually reduce the
costs of manufacturing our solutions; and manage transitions from one solution to another in a timely and cost-effective manner. Our failure to do so would
likely cause our revenue and gross margins to decline, which could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Our international operations expose us to additional business risks, and failure to manage these risks may adversely affect our business.
We have international operations in China, Russia, Taiwan, Australia, Japan, Singapore and parts of Europe, and we derive substantially all of our
revenue from shipments delivered outside the United States, particularly in Asia. International operations are subject to inherent risks, and our future results
could be adversely affected by a number of factors, including:
•

differing technical standards, existing or future regulatory and certification requirements and required product features and functionality;

•

challenges related to managing and integrating operations in new markets with different languages, cultures and political systems;

•

heightened risks of unfair or corrupt business practices in certain countries and of improper or fraudulent sales arrangements that may impact
financial results and lead to restatements of, and irregularities in, our financial statements or violations of law, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act;

•

tariffs and trade barriers, export controls and trade and economic sanctions regulations and other regulatory or contractual limitations on our ability
to sell or develop our solutions in certain foreign markets, particularly in China and Russia;

•

rapidly changing immigration laws, requirements and processes, which may result in travel restrictions and delays, reduced hiring opportunities of
qualified personnel, hiring delays, and increased immigration costs;

•

difficulties and costs associated with staffing and managing international operations;

•

difficulties associated with enforcing and protecting intellectual property rights in some countries;

•

requirements or preferences for in-country products, which could reduce demand for our products;

•

difficulties in enforcing contracts and collecting accounts receivable, which may result in longer payment cycles, especially in emerging markets;

•

potentially adverse tax consequences, including taxes impacting our ability to repatriate profits to the United States;

•

added legal compliance obligations and complexity;

•

public health emergencies and other disasters, such as earthquakes and tsunamis, that are more common in certain regions;

•

increased cost of terminating employees in some countries;

•

the effect of currency exchange rate fluctuations;

•

the effect of inflation;

•

political and economic instability;

•

war or hostilities between countries, including, for example, recent escalating hostilities between India and Pakistan; and

•

acts of terrorism.

Additionally, the United States has announced restrictions on exports involving specific companies. In April 2018, the U.S. Department of Commerce’s
Bureau of Industry and Security imposed a denial of export privileges against Zhongxing Telecommunications Equipment Corporation (“ZTE”) and a
second ZTE entity. These restrictions were subsequently lifted in July 2018, but may be imposed in the future with little or no advance notice. In December
2018, various sources noted that President Trump was considering an executive order to declare a national emergency and ban U.S. companies from using
telecommunications equipment made by Chinese companies Huawei and ZTE. While the prior export ban applicable to ZTE
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has been lifted by the United States, the imposition of any export bans and the resulting uncertainty regarding the eventual resolution or potential for future
export bans, can delay or cause the loss of revenue opportunities and harm our results of operations.
Data privacy laws in various jurisdictions are changing significantly and creating a complex regulatory compliance environment. For example, the
European Union adopted the General Data Protection Regulation (the “GDPR”), which requires companies to meet new requirements beginning in May 2018
regarding the use and handling of personal data in the European Union. Failure to meet GDPR requirements could result in penalties of the greater of €20
million or up to 4% of a company’s worldwide revenue, as well as other potential penalties and fines. It can be challenging to comply with these changing
laws and our efforts to comply could cause us to incur substantial costs. Failure to comply also subjects us to significant potential penalties, reputational
damage and loss of business.
In 2012, we established our Russian subsidiary for research and development activities pursuant to a letter agreement with Joint Stock Company
“RUSNANO” (“RUSNANO”). Pursuant to the letter agreement, as amended, we have obligations to periodically fund the subsidiary, and RUSNANO has
certain rights regarding the governance and operation of the subsidiary. While certain of these rights terminated upon completion of our initial public
offering, RUSNANO may seek to continue to remain involved with our subsidiary, including its board of directors and use of our subsidiary’s funds. We may
incur specified penalties under the letter agreement if we fail to meet any applicable funding obligations, and may incur other unanticipated costs if we are
required to restructure our operations in Russia.
We expect that we will continue to rely on our international operations, and our success will depend on our ability to anticipate and effectively manage
these and other associated risks. The imposition, or even the mere threat of imposition, of any of the actions described above, or similar actions, increases the
overall business risks related to international commerce and creates additional uncertainty in connection with our international operations. Our failure to
successfully manage any of these risks, and take appropriate action in a timely manner in response to any such new developments, could harm our
international operations and adversely affect our business.
Changes in government trade policies could have an adverse impact on our business or the business of our customers, which may materially adversely
affect our business operations, sales or gross margins.
The United States has recently enacted significant changes, and has indicated it may seek additional changes, with respect to a variety of issues,
including trade agreements among nations, import and export regulations, tariffs and customs duties, foreign relations, and tax laws and regulations. For
example, during 2018, the United States and China each imposed new tariffs, and announced further proposed tariffs, on various products imported from
China and the United States, respectively. In particular, in July 2018, the United States Trade Representative announced potential additional tariffs of 10%
on over 6,000 categories of products imported from China with a value of $200 billion, including certain networking and Wi-Fi related equipment, which
went into effect in September 2018 and is scheduled to increase to a rate of 25% in 2019. Although we do not manufacture any chips in China and have
limited test and assembly operations in China, these tariffs have impacted certain of our customers. In addition, many of our impacted customers with Chinabased production operations have announced plans to move at least some of their production and supply chain activities outside of China, which may impact
the timing or amount of product purchases, cause greater inventory volatility, increase costs and otherwise disrupt operations and manufacturing processes.
The United States has also announced tariffs on other countries as well as further potential tariffs on China. In addition, the United Kingdom's 2016
referendum to withdraw from the European Union, commonly referred to as “Brexit,” has created economic and political uncertainty in the European Union
and worldwide. We cannot predict what actions may ultimately be taken with respect to tariffs or trade relations between the United States and other
countries, what products may be subject to such actions, or what actions may be taken by the other countries in retaliation. Accordingly, it is difficult to
predict exactly how, and to what extent, such actions may impact our business, or the business of our customers, partners or vendors. However, our business
operations, as well as the businesses of our customers and vendors on which we are substantially dependent, are located in various countries at risk for
escalating trade disputes, including the United States, China and Europe. Any resulting trade wars could have a significant adverse effect on world trade and
could adversely impact our revenues, gross margins and business operations.
We could be subject to additional tax liabilities.
We are subject to U.S. federal, state and local income, sales and other taxes in the United States and foreign income taxes, withholding taxes and valueadded and other transaction taxes in numerous foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in evaluating our tax positions and our worldwide
provision for taxes. During the ordinary course of business, there are many
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activities and transactions for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Our tax obligations and effective tax rates could be adversely affected by
changes in the relevant tax, accounting and other laws, regulations, principles and interpretations, including those relating to income tax nexus, by
challenges to our intercompany arrangements, valuation methodologies and transfer pricing, by recognizing tax losses or lower than anticipated earnings in
jurisdictions where we have lower statutory rates and higher than anticipated earnings in jurisdictions where we have higher statutory rates, by changes in
foreign currency exchange rates, or by changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities. In addition, on December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and
Jobs Act of 2017 (the “Tax Act”) was signed into legislation, which contains many significant changes to the U.S. tax laws. The Tax Act, among other
changes, reduces the U.S. federal corporate tax rate from as high as 35% to 21%, implements a modified territorial tax system that includes a one-time
transition tax on deemed repatriation of previously untaxed accumulated earnings and profits of certain foreign subsidiaries, and creates new taxes on certain
foreign-sourced earnings. We are still evaluating the impact of the recently enacted Tax Act, including whether and how state, local and foreign jurisdictions
will react to such changes. Changes in corporate tax rates, the realizability of the net deferred tax assets relating to our U.S. operations, the taxation of foreign
earnings and the deductibility of expenses contained in the Tax Act or other tax reform legislation could result in significant one-time charges in the current
or future taxable years and could increase our future U.S. tax expense. In addition, we will re-evaluate our international operating structure and strategy due
to changes to European tax laws, including new European tax laws effective January 1, 2020, which could have an adverse impact on our effective tax rate in
the future. Furthermore, changes to the taxation of undistributed foreign earnings could change our future intentions regarding reinvestment of such earnings.
The foregoing items could have an adverse effect on our operating results, cash flow or financial condition. We may also be audited in various jurisdictions,
and such jurisdictions may challenge our intercompany structures or assess additional taxes, interest and penalties, including sales taxes and value-added
taxes against us. Although we believe our tax estimates are reasonable, the final determination of any tax audits or litigation could be materially different
from our historical tax provisions and accruals, which could have an adverse effect on our results of operations or cash flows in the period or periods for
which a determination is made.
Our ability to use our net operating losses to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations.
We currently have a significant amount of net operating losses, or NOLs, which we expect will reduce our overall tax liability for the foreseeable future.
However, if we undergo an ownership change our ability to utilize NOLs could be further limited by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the “Code”). Future changes in our stock ownership, some of which are outside of our control, could result in an ownership change under
Section 382 of the Code. Furthermore, our ability to utilize NOLs of companies that we may acquire in the future may be subject to limitations. There is also a
risk that due to regulatory changes, such as suspensions on the use of NOLs, or other unforeseen reasons, our existing NOLs could expire or otherwise be
unavailable to offset future income tax liabilities. For these reasons, we may not be able to utilize a material portion of the NOLs reflected on our balance
sheet, even if we attain profitability. See Note 11, “Income Taxes” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K for details.
Our use of open source software in our solutions, processes and technology may expose us to additional risks and compromise our proprietary intellectual
property.
We incorporate open source software into our Wi-Fi solutions, including certain open source code governed by the GNU General Public License, the
GNU Lesser General Public License and the Common Development and Distribution License. The terms of many open source licenses have not been
interpreted by U.S. courts, and there is a risk that these licenses could be construed in a manner that could impose unanticipated conditions or restrictions on
our ability to commercialize our solutions. In such event, we could be required to seek licenses from third parties to continue offering our solutions, make our
proprietary code generally available in source code form (for example, proprietary code that links to certain open source modules), re-engineer our solutions,
discontinue the sale of our solutions if re-engineering cannot be accomplished on a cost-effective and timely basis, or become subject to other consequences,
any of which could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Changes to industry standards and government requirements relevant to our solutions and markets could adversely affect our business, results of
operations and financial condition.
If our customers adopt new or competing industry standards with which our solutions are not compatible, our existing solutions would become less
desirable and our revenue and results of operations would suffer. In addition, changes in government- 42 -
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imposed requirements, such as maximum power consumption regulations in Europe, can prevent our solutions from being shipped to certain countries if they
do not meet such requirements.
The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources and divert management’s attention from managing our business.
As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), the listing
requirements of the securities exchange on which our common stock is traded, and other applicable securities rules and regulations. Our management team
and other personnel devote a substantial amount of time to compliance. Compliance with these rules and regulations has increased our legal and financial
compliance costs, made some activities more difficult, time-consuming or costly, and increased demands on our administrative systems and resources. Among
other things, the Exchange Act requires that we file annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and results of operations, and maintain
effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting. To maintain and, if required, improve our disclosure controls and
procedures and internal control over financial reporting to meet this standard, significant resources and management oversight may be required. As a result,
management’s attention may be diverted from other business concerns, which could harm our business and results of operations. In addition, we have limited
internal resources and we may need to hire additional employees to comply with these requirements in the future, which will increase our costs and expenses.
We may also not be able to hire additional, qualified resources on a timely basis.
In addition, changing laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure are creating uncertainty for public
companies, increasing legal and financial compliance costs, and making some activities more time consuming. These laws, regulations and standards are
subject to varying interpretations, in many cases due to their lack of specificity, and as a result, their application in practice may evolve over time as new
guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies. This could result in continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher costs
necessitated by ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance practices. We intend to invest resources to comply with evolving laws, regulations, and
standards, and this investment will increase our general and administrative expense and result in a diversion of management’s time and attention from
revenue-generating activities to compliance activities. If our efforts to comply with new laws, regulations, and standards are unsuccessful, regulatory
authorities may initiate legal proceedings against us and our business, results of operations and financial condition may be harmed.
While we have remediated a prior material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting, we could experience a material weakness in the
future that, if not properly remediated, could result in material misstatements in our financial statements in future periods and impair our ability to comply
with the accounting and reporting requirements applicable to public companies.
We have experienced a material weakness in the past and could experience one or more material weaknesses in the future. During the course of the
preparation of our 2016 consolidated financial statements, we identified a control deficiency in our internal control over financial reporting that we
determined constituted a material weakness as previously disclosed in our prospectus in connection with our initial public offering and in our Annual
Reports on Form 10-K for the fiscal years ended January 1, 2017 (fiscal 2016) and December 31, 2017 (fiscal 2017). While we have taken a number of steps to
improve our internal controls over financial reporting and have successfully remediated this material weakness, we cannot be certain that other material
weaknesses and control deficiencies will not be discovered in the future. In addition, if material weaknesses or control deficiencies occur in the future, we
may be unable to report our financial results accurately or on a timely basis, which could cause our reported financial results to be materially misstated and
result in the loss of investor confidence or delisting and cause the trading price of our common stock to decline. As a result of any such failures, we could also
become subject to investigations by the stock exchange on which our securities are listed, the SEC, or other regulatory authorities, and become subject to
litigation from investors and stockholders, which could harm our reputation and financial condition, or divert financial and management resources from our
core business.
We may not be able to maintain an effective system of internal controls and accurately report our financial results on a timely basis, which may adversely
affect investor confidence in our company and negatively impact the trading price of our common stock.
Pursuant to the Exchange Act, we are required to furnish a report by management on, among other things, the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting in our Annual Report on Form 10-K. This assessment includes disclosure of any material weaknesses identified by our management in our
internal control over financial reporting. We plan to continue to further
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document and test our internal controls in order to identify, evaluate and remediate any deficiencies in those internal controls and document the results of our
evaluation, testing and remediation, provided, however, we may not be able to complete our evaluation, testing and any required remediation in a timely
fashion. During the evaluation and testing process, if we identify one or more material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, as we did
in preparing our 2015, 2016 and 2017 consolidated financial statements (which we have successfully remediated as of December 30, 2018), that we are
unable to remediate before the end of the same fiscal year in which the material weakness is identified, we will be unable to assert that our internal controls
are effective. In addition, as an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (the “JOBS Act”), we have taken
advantage of certain exemptions from various requirements that are applicable to public companies that are not “emerging growth companies,” including not
being required to comply with the independent auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Once we no longer qualify as an
“emerging growth company,” we will be subject to such additional requirements, which will require additional effort, increased costs and further scrutiny. If
we are unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, or if our auditors, when required, are unable to attest to management’s
report on the effectiveness of our internal controls, we could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, which would
cause the price of our common stock to decline.
We are subject to the cyclical nature of the semiconductor industry, which has suffered, and may in the future suffer, from cyclical downturns.
The semiconductor industry is highly cyclical and is characterized by constant and rapid technological change, rapid product obsolescence, price
erosion, evolving standards, consolidation and wide fluctuations in product supply and demand. The industry has historically experienced cyclical
downturns, including during global recessions, which have been characterized by diminished product demand, production overcapacity, high inventory
levels and accelerated erosion of ASPs. A significant portion of our operating expense is incurred in connection with developing our Wi-Fi solutions,
securing design wins and assisting customers and service providers in the development of their product specifications in advance of anticipated sales. As a
result, in the event that such sales do not ultimately materialize due to a cyclical downturn or otherwise, we may not be able to decrease our operating
expense rapidly enough to offset any unanticipated shortfall in revenue. There is a risk that future downturns could negatively impact our revenue, which
could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Our products, results of operations and financial condition could be seriously impacted by security breaches, including cyber security incidents.
We rely on several information technology systems to provide products and services, process orders, manage inventory, process shipments to customers,
keep financial, employee, and other records, and operate other critical functions. We also use third-party vendors that store certain confidential or sensitive
data. These information technology systems are subject to damage or interruption from a number of potential sources. In addition, defects and security
vulnerabilities could be introduced into the software embedded in our products, and possibly impact the functionality, performance, reliability and security
of our products. Security breaches, including cyber-attacks, phishing attacks, attempts to misappropriate or compromise confidential or proprietary
information, including personal data, or sabotage information technology systems with malware, viruses or other malicious attacks, are becoming
increasingly frequent and more sophisticated. We may not be able to effectively detect, prevent and recover from security breaches, including attacks on
information technology and infrastructure by hackers and viruses. Cyber attacks could result in unauthorized parties gaining access to certain confidential
business information or personal data, and could include unauthorized third parties obtaining trade secrets and proprietary information related to our
solutions. For example, we offer a cloud-based Wi-Fi analytics and monitoring platform that collects certain Wi-Fi network and system data. While we utilize
Amazon Web Services for this platform, which provides a number of sophisticated technical and physical controls designed to prevent unauthorized access to
or disclosure of customer content, we cannot be certain that such controls will be sufficient to prevent a security breach. It can be difficult, if not impossible,
to entirely prevent cyber attacks. As these threats continue to evolve, we may be required to expend significant resources to enhance our control
environment, processes, practices and other protective measures. Despite these efforts, if we experience a cyber security incident, such incident could subject
us to legal or regulatory claims or proceedings, disrupt our operations, damage our reputation, cause a loss of confidence in our products and services,
negatively impact our stock price and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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We are exposed to fluctuations in currency exchange rates that could negatively impact our business, operating results and financial condition.
Because a portion of our business is conducted outside of the United States, we face exposure to adverse movements in foreign currency exchange rates.
These exposures may change over time, as international customer mix, business practices and our international footprint evolve, and they could have a
material adverse impact on our business, operating results and financial condition.
To date, all of our revenue has been denominated in U.S. dollars; however, most of our expenses associated with our international operations are
denominated in local currencies. As a result, a decline in the value of the U.S. dollar relative to the value of these local currencies could have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations. Conversely, an increase in the value of the U.S. dollar could result in our Wi-Fi solutions being more expensive to
our customers in their local currencies, and could have an adverse impact on our pricing and our business.
Although we hedge a portion of our international currency exposure, not every exposure can be hedged and, where hedges are put in place based on
expected foreign currency exchange exposure, they are based on forecasts that may vary or that may later prove to have been inaccurate. As a result,
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates or our failure to successfully hedge against these fluctuations could have a material adverse effect on
business, operating results and financial condition.
Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock
The market price of our common stock has been and may continue to be volatile, which could cause the value of an investment in our common stock to
decline.
Technology stocks have historically experienced high levels of volatility. Prior to our initial public offering, there had been no public market for shares
of our common stock. Since our initial public offering, the trading price of our common stock has fluctuated from an intra-day high of $25.45 to an intra-day
low of $9.60 and may continue to fluctuate substantially. These fluctuations depend on many factors, some of which are beyond our control and may not be
related to our operating performance. These fluctuations could cause an investor to lose all or part of their investment in our common stock. Factors that
could cause fluctuations in the trading price of our common stock include the following:
•

announcements of new products or technologies, commercial relationships, acquisitions or other events by us or our competitors;

•

changes in how customers perceive the benefits of our Wi-Fi solutions;

•

departures of key personnel;

•

price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market or semiconductor market from time to time;

•

fluctuations in the trading volume of our shares or the size of our public float;

•

sales of large blocks of our common stock;

•

sales of our common stock by our directors and officers;

•

actual, anticipated or perceived changes, fluctuations or developments in our business, outlook or results of operations;

•

whether our results of operations meet the expectations of securities analysts or investors;

•

changes in actual or future expectations of investors or securities analysts;

•

litigation involving us, our industry, or both;

•

regulatory developments in the United States, foreign countries or both;

•

general economic conditions and trends;

•

major catastrophic events in our domestic and foreign markets; and

•

“flash crashes,” “freeze flashes” or other glitches that disrupt trading on the securities exchange on which we are listed.
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In addition, if the market for technology stocks or the stock market in general experiences a loss of investor confidence, the trading price of our common
stock could decline for reasons unrelated to our business, results of operations or financial condition. The trading price of our common stock might also
decline in reaction to events that affect other companies in our industry even if these events do not directly affect us. In the past, following periods of
volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, securities class action litigation has often been brought against that company. If our stock price is
volatile, we may become the target of securities litigation. Securities litigation could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention and
resources from our business. This could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
If securities analysts or industry analysts downgrade our stock, publish negative research or reports or fail to publish reports about our business, our stock
price could be adversely affected.
The trading market for our common stock will, to some extent, depend on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us or
our business. We do not have any control over these analysts. If one or more of the analysts who cover us should downgrade our stock or publish negative
research or reports, cease coverage of our company or fail to regularly publish reports about our business, such actions could adversely affect our stock price.
Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public markets, or the perception that such sales might occur, could reduce the price that our
common stock might otherwise attain.
Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market, or the perception that such sales could occur, could have an adverse
effect on the market price of our common stock and may make it more difficult for investors to sell their shares of our common stock at a desirable time and
price. In addition, our executive officers and directors may wish to sell shares of our common stock held by them, including sales through automatic and nondiscretionary written plans, known as “Rule 10b5-1 Plans.” Sales made by our executive officers and directors, including sales pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 Plans,
regardless of the amount of such sales, could adversely affect the market price of our common stock.
Our issuance of additional capital stock in connection with financings, acquisitions, investments, our stock incentive plans or otherwise will dilute all
other stockholders.
We expect to issue additional capital stock in the future that will result in dilution to all other stockholders. We expect to grant equity awards to
employees, directors and consultants under our stock incentive plans. We may also raise capital through equity financings in the future. As part of our
business strategy, we may acquire or make investments in complementary companies, products or technologies and issue equity securities to pay for any such
acquisition or investment. Any such issuances of additional capital stock may cause stockholders to experience significant dilution of their ownership
interests and the per share value of our common stock to decline.
A limited number of stockholders may have substantial control over us, which could limit your ability to influence the outcome of key transactions,
including a change of control and other matters requiring stockholder approval.
Our directors, executive officers and each of our stockholders who own greater than 5% of our outstanding common stock, in the aggregate, beneficially
own a significant portion of the outstanding shares of our common stock. As a result, these stockholders, if acting together, may be able to influence or
control matters requiring approval by our stockholders, and limit your ability to influence the outcome of key transactions, including the election of directors
and the approval of mergers, acquisitions or other extraordinary transactions. They may also have interests that differ from yours and may vote in a way with
which you disagree and which may be adverse to your interests. This concentration of ownership may have the effect of delaying, preventing or deterring a
change of control of our company, could deprive our stockholders of an opportunity to receive a premium for their common stock as part of a sale of our
company and might ultimately affect the market price of our common stock.
We do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock and, consequently, your ability to achieve a return on your investment will depend on
appreciation in the price of our common stock.
We have never declared or paid any dividends on our common stock. We intend to retain any earnings to finance the operation and expansion of our
business, and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. As a result, you may only receive a return on your investment in our
common stock if the market price of our common stock increases.
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Delaware law and our corporate charter and bylaws contain anti-takeover provisions that could delay or discourage takeover attempts that stockholders
may consider favorable.
Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Amended and Restated Bylaws contain provisions that could delay or prevent a change in
control of our company. These provisions could also make it difficult for stockholders to elect directors who are not nominated by the current members of our
board of directors or take other corporate actions, including effecting changes in our management. These provisions include:
•

a classified board of directors with three-year staggered terms, which could delay the ability of stockholders to change the membership of a majority
of our board of directors;

•

the ability of our board of directors to issue shares of preferred stock and to determine the price and other terms of those shares, including preferences
and voting rights, without stockholder approval, which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile acquirer;

•

the exclusive right of our board of directors to elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of our board of directors or the resignation,
death or removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on our board of directors;

•

a prohibition on stockholder action by written consent, which forces stockholder action to be taken at an annual or special meeting of our
stockholders;

•

the requirement that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by our board of directors, the chairperson of our board of directors, our
chief executive officer or our president (in the absence of a chief executive officer), which could delay the ability of our stockholders to force
consideration of a proposal or to take action, including the removal of directors;

•

the requirement for the affirmative vote of holders of at least 66 2/3% of the voting power of all of the then outstanding shares of the voting stock,
voting together as a single class, to amend the provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation relating to the management of our
business (including our classified board structure) or certain provisions of our Amended and Restated Bylaws, which may inhibit the ability of an
acquirer to effect such amendments to facilitate an unsolicited takeover attempt;

•

the ability of our board of directors to amend the bylaws, which may allow our board of directors to take additional actions to prevent an unsolicited
takeover and inhibit the ability of an acquirer to amend the bylaws to facilitate an unsolicited takeover attempt; and

•

advance notice procedures with which stockholders must comply to nominate candidates to our board of directors or to propose matters to be acted
upon at a stockholders’ meeting, which may discourage or deter a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer’s
own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us.

In addition, as a Delaware corporation, we are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which may prohibit large stockholders,
in particular those owning 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock, from merging or combining with us for a specified period of time.
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Our Amended and Restated Bylaws designate a State or Federal court located within the State of Delaware as the exclusive forum for certain litigation
that may be initiated by our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us.
Pursuant to our Amended and Restated Bylaws, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the sole and exclusive forum for (1)
any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (2) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers
or other employees to us or our stockholders, (3) any action asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General
Corporation Law, or (4) any action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine, shall be a State or Federal court located within
the State of Delaware, in all cases subject to the court’s having personal jurisdiction over indispensable parties named as defendants. Any person or entity
purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of our capital stock shall be deemed to have notice of and consented to this provision. The forum
selection clause in our Amended and Restated Bylaws will limit stockholders’ choice in selecting a judicial forum for disputes with our company and may
have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against us or our directors and officers.
We may not be able to obtain capital when desired on favorable terms, if at all, or without dilution to our stockholders and our failure to raise capital
when needed could prevent us from executing our growth strategy.
We intend to continue to make investments to support our business growth and may require additional funds to respond to business challenges,
including the need to develop new and enhance our existing Wi-Fi solutions, improve our operating infrastructure or acquire complementary businesses and
technologies. Accordingly, we may need to engage in equity or debt financings to secure additional funds. If we raise additional equity financing, our
stockholders may experience significant dilution of their ownership interests and the per share value of our common stock could decline. Furthermore, if we
engage in debt financing, the holders of debt would have priority over the holders of common stock, and we may be required to accept terms that restrict our
ability to incur additional indebtedness. We may also be required to take other actions that would otherwise be in the interests of the debt holders and force
us to maintain specified liquidity or other ratios, any of which could harm our business, results of operations, and financial condition. If we need additional
capital and cannot raise it on acceptable terms, we may not be able to, among other things:
•

develop new or enhance our existing Wi-Fi solutions;

•

expand our research and development and sales and marketing organizations;

•

respond to competitive pressures or unanticipated working capital requirements;

•

hire, train and retain employees;

•

expand our operations, in the United States or internationally; or

•

acquire complementary technologies, products or businesses.

Our failure to do any of these things could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We are an “emerging growth company,” and our election to comply with the reduced disclosure requirements as a public company may make our common
stock less attractive to investors.
For so long as we remain an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act, we have taken advantage of certain exemptions from various
requirements that are applicable to public companies that are not “emerging growth companies,” including not being required to comply with the
independent auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in
our periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a non-binding advisory vote on executive compensation and
stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. We will remain an “emerging growth company” until the earliest of (i) the
last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the completion of our initial public offering, (ii) the last day of the first fiscal year in which our
annual gross revenue is $1.07 billion or more, (iii) the date on which we have, during the previous rolling three-year period, issued more than $1 billion in
non-convertible debt securities or (iv) the date on which we are deemed to be a “large accelerated filer” as defined in the Exchange Act. We cannot predict if
investors will find our common stock less attractive because we have relied on these exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a
result, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock, and our stock price may be more volatile and may decline.
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In addition, the JOBS Act also provides that an “emerging growth company” can take advantage of an extended transition period for complying with
new or revised accounting standards. However, we have chosen to “opt out” of such extended transition period, and as a result, we will comply with new or
revised accounting standards on the relevant dates on which adoption of such standards is required for non-emerging growth companies. Our decision to opt
out of the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards is irrevocable.
Item 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities
None.
Use of Proceeds
None.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
None.
Item 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
Not applicable.
Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
Item 5. OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable.
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Item 6. EXHIBITS
Incorporated by
Reference
Exhibit
Number
2.1**

Description

Form

101.INS

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of March 27, 2019, 8-K
among Quantenna Communications, Inc., ON Semiconductor
Corporation, and Raptor Operations Sub, Inc.
Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules
13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules
13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

31.1

31.2

32.1*

*

File No.
001-37927

Exhibit
2.1

Filing Date
03-27-2019

The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1 that accompany this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q is deemed furnished and not filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Quantenna Communications, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, irrespective
of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.
** All schedules to Exhibit 2.1 have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. Quantenna Communications, Inc. hereby agrees to furnish
supplementary a copy of any omitted schedule to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
QUANTENNA COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
Date: April 29, 2019

By: /s/ Sam Heidari
Sam Heidari
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: April 29, 2019

By: /s/ Sean Sobers
Sean Sobers
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)

- S-1 -

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a),
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Sam Heidari, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Quantenna Communications, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: April 29, 2019

By: /s/ Sam Heidari
Name: Sam Heidari
Title: Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
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Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a),
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Sean Sobers, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Quantenna Communications, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: April 29, 2019

By:

/s/ Sean Sobers

Name: Sean Sobers
Title: Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Sam Heidari, the Chief Executive Officer of Quantenna Communications, Inc., hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge, the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Quantenna Communications, Inc. for the fiscal
quarter ended March 31, 2019 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information
contained in such Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Quantenna
Communications, Inc.

Date: April 29, 2019

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Sam Heidari
Sam Heidari
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

I, Sean Sobers, the Chief Financial Officer of Quantenna Communications, Inc., hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge, the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Quantenna Communications, Inc. for the fiscal
quarter ended March 31, 2019 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information
contained in such Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Quantenna
Communications, Inc.
Date: April 29, 2019

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Sean Sobers
Sean Sobers
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

